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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Ooredoo Q.P.S.C. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the "Group") as at

31 December 2021 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

What we have audited

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

. the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the State of Qatar. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.

Our audit approach

Overview
Key audit matters

« Revenue recognition and related complex IT systems.

 Carrying value of cash generating units, including goodwill.

« Accounting treatment for uncertain tax exposures, regulatory and pending litigation exposures in the various
markets that the Group operates in.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements;
for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering
future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management
override of internal controls, including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias
that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

%PricewaterhouseCoopers — Qatar Branch, P.O. Box: 6689, Doha, Qatar.

i Ministry of Commerce and Industry License number 6 / Qatar Financial Markets Authority License number 120155
gT: +974 4419 2777, F: +974 4467 7528, www.pwc.com/me
H 1




-

pwec

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit matter

Revenue recognition and related complex IT systems

The Group reported revenue of QR. 29,899,742
thousand from telecommunication related activities.

We considered this area to be a matter of most
significance, as there is an inherent risk around the
recognition of revenue in telecommunication services
given that revenue is processed by complex IT
systems involving large volumes of data with a
combination of different products, services, and
related prices. In addition, the application of the
revenue accounting standard is complex and involves
several key judgements and estimates. This resulted
in a significant portion of our audit effort directed
towards this area and related IT systems.

Refer to the following notes to the consolidated
financial statements for detail:

e Note 3: Significant accounting policies

e Note 4: Revenue

e Note 41: Significant accounting judgements and,
estimates

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

We performed audit procedures over this
significant risk area, which included a
combination of tests of controls and substantive
procedures as described below:

We obtained an understanding of the various
significant revenue streams and identified the
relevant controls, IT systems, interfaces and
reports.

We assessed the Group's revenue accounting
policies, including the key judgments and
estimates applied by management in
consideration of the requirements of IFRS 15.

We placed reliance on the Group’s IT systems
and key internal controls. We involved our
internal Information Technology specialists to
assist us with testing the IT general controls and
application controls of IT systems connected
with the processing of transactions associated
with significant revenue streams.

We performed automated and manual controls
testing and substantive procedures, to verify
accuracy and occurrence of revenue. This
included testing the end-to-end reconciliations
from data records extracted from source systems
to the billing systems and to the general ledger.

We used data analytic tools to identify revenue
related manual journals posted to the general
ledger and traced them to source systems.

We performed analytical procedures and
evaluated underlying source documentation to
test the completeness, accuracy and validity of
the postings, including those journals we
considered unusual in nature.

We tested calls using various parameters to
ascertain the instances will accurately be
processed through the network elements and
until recognition.

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in respect to revenue.
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Carrying value of cash generating units, including
gooduwill

The Group’s net assets include goodwill at the reporting
date with a carrying value of QAR 5,175,488 thousand.
International Accounting Standards (IAS) 36
Impairment of Assets requires that goodwill acquired in
a business combination to be tested for impairment at
least annually. In addition, some of the businesses that
these balances relate to operate in countries
experiencing political instability and/or difficult
economic conditions. There is a potential risk that these
businesses may not trade in line with expectations and
forecasts, resulting in an impairment. The Group’s
assessment of the value in use (“VIU”) of its cash
generating units (“CGUs”) involves estimation about
the future performance of the respective businesses. In
particular, the determination of the VIUs is sensitive to
the significant assumptions of projected earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) growth, long-term growth rates, and
discount rates. As a result of the impairment tests
performed, an impairment of goodwill and non-current
assets amounting to QAR 2,252 million was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2021 in relation to
the Group’s operations in Myanmar.

We considered the Group’s impairment assessment to
be a matter of most significance to the current year
audit due to the significant judgements and
assumptions made by management in performing the
impairment assessments.

Refer to the following notes to the consolidated
financial statements for detail:

Note 41: Significant accounting judgements and
estimates;

Note 47: Impact of COVID-19; and

Note 13: Intangible assets, goodwill and long-term
prepayments.

We performed audit procedures over this
significant risk area, which included a
combination of tests of controls and substantive
procedures as described below:

We obtained an understanding of the business
process for the impairment assessment,
identifying the relevant internal controls and
testing their design, implementation, and
operating effectiveness of controls over the
impairment process.

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the
valuation models used by management. We also
assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology (discounted cash flows model)
applied by management, with reference to
market practice and the requirements of
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 36
Impairment of Assets.

We assessed the reliability of the Group’s
budgets included in the business plans (which
form the basis of the cash flow forecasts), by
comparing current period budgets to actual
results and evaluating differences noted against
underlying documentation and explanations
obtained from management. We also agreed
revenue and (EBITDA) used to calculate cash
flow forecasts to approved budgets and/or
business plans.

We utilised internal valuations specialists at the
Group and component levels (where deemed
necessary) to support us in assessing the
assumptions and methodology wused by
management, and in  particular, we
independently calculated the weighted average
cost of capital and terminal growth rates for each
significant cash generating unit.

We performed sensitivity analyses to determine
the changes in key assumptions, namely,
discount rates, terminal growth rates and
forecast cash flows that would result in an
impairment. We considered whether such
changes were reasonably likely.

We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures provided in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements, in particular
the sensitivity disclosures in relation to
reasonably possible changes in assumptions that
could result in impairment.
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Accounting treatment for uncertain tax exposures,
regulatory and pending litigation exposures in the
various markets that the Group operates in

The Group operates across multiple tax and regulatory
jurisdictions and due to the inherent nature of
exposures, rulings issued, assessments by tax and
regulatory authorities and litigation in certain
markets, the Group is exposed to various tax, legal and
regulatory matters.

In accounting for these matters, management applies
significant judgment in estimating the provisions and
related disclosures in accordance with IFRS.

We considered the accounting treatment for uncertain
tax exposures, regulatory and pending litigation
exposures in the various markets that the Group
operates in to be a matter of most significance to the
current year’s audit due to the magnitude, complexity
and nature of these exposures, and that a significant
level of management judgement is required in
interpreting specific legislation, regulatory provisions
or practices to determine whether a liability is
required to be recognised or a contingent liability to be
disclosed.

Refer to the following notes to the consolidated
financial statements for detail:

e Note 37: Commitments, contingent liabilities
and litigations;

e Note 41: Significant accounting judgements and,
estimates; and

e Note 47: Impact of COVID-19.

In response to the significant risk associated with
the accounting treatment of uncertain tax
exposures, regulatory and pending litigation, we
performed the following procedures:

We obtained an understanding of the Group's
policies in addressing tax, legal and regulatory
requirements.

We assessed the adequacy of the design,
implementation, and operating effectiveness of
controls over legal, regulatory, and tax registers,
which includes the type of claim, amount,
provision, and calculation of net exposure.

We held discussions with the Group's tax, legal
and regulatory teams to evaluate management’s
assessment of the potential outcome of
significant exposures and we also discussed with
management the facts and circumstances
surrounding the significant exposures of the
Group in order to evaluate the reasonableness of
management’s conclusions.

We held discussions and reviewed reporting
deliverables from our component audit teams in
relation to significant exposures in overseas
subsidiaries. Our component teams also utilised
relevant local tax and/or legal experts as
necessary in arriving at their conclusions.

We obtained and reviewed external legal and tax
opinions, legal confirmations and other relevant
documents supporting management's
conclusions on these matters. Where necessary,
we held discussions with management’s legal
department regarding material cases.

With the support of our component audit teams,
we evaluated in-country management’s tax, legal
and regulatory exposures assessment reports for
consistency with reports prepared by Group
management.

We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures provided in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Report
(but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS and with the requirements of the Qatar Commercial Companies Law number 11 of 2015,
as amended by Law number 8 of 2021, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

As disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year Law Number 8 of 2021 came
into effect amending certain provisions of the Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law number 11 of 2015. As of the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Company is in the process of completing formalities to make the required
changes and also to allow for the payment of fixed Directors' remuneration.

Further, as required by the Qatar Commercial Companies Law number 11 of 2015, as amended by Law number
8 of 2021, we report that:

e We have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit;

e The Company has carried out a physical verification of inventories at the year-end in accordance with
observed principles;

e The Company has maintained proper books of account and the consolidated financial statements are in
agreement therewith;

e The financial information included in the Board of Directors’ Report is in agreement with the books and
records of the Company; and

e Nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that the Company has breached any of the
provisions of the Qatar Commercial Companies Law number 11 of 2015, as amended by Law number 8 of
2021, or of its Articles of Association, which would materially affect the reported results of its operations or
its financial position as at 31 December 2021.

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers — Qatar Branch
Qatar Financial Market Authority registration number 120155

M Mot

Mark Menton
Auditor’s registration number 364
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements
forthe year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Note 2021 2020*

QR.’000 QR.’000
Revenue 4 29,899,742 28,866,565
Otherincome 5 494,904 458,026
Network, interconnect and other operating expenses 6 (13,486,389) (13,194,381)
Employee salaries and associated costs (3,213,071) (3,258,375)
Depreciationand amortisation 7 (7,974,443) (8,245,460)
Finance costs 8 (1,994,364) (2,149,685)
Financeincome 8 190,055 254,109
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures 16 80,462 35,276
Impairmentlosseson financial assets 38 (230,383) (360,775)
Impairmentlosseson goodwill and other non-financial
assets 26 (2,400,464) (407,184)
Gain on sale of towers 0.1 1,566,903 -
Other (losses)/gains- net 9.2 (715,569) 12,589
Royaltiesandfees 10 (538,066) (385,676)
Profitbefore incometax 1,679,317 1,625,029
Income tax expense 19 (626,697) (203,099)
Profitfor the year 1,052,620 1,421,930
Profit attributable to:
Shareholdersofthe parent 46,918 1,126,475
Non-controllinginterests 1,005,702 295,455

1,052,620 1,421,930
Basic and diluted earnings per share
(Attributable to shareholdersofthe parent)
(Expressed in QR. pershare) 11 0.01 0.35

* Refertonote 48 fordetailsregarding certain reclassifications.

Independentauditor’s reportis setoutin pages 1-7.
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The accompanying notes set out in pages 16 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.




Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements
forthe year ended 31 December 2021
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Note 2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Profitfor the year 1,052,620 1,421,930
Other comprehensiveloss
Items that maybe reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flowhedges 6,303 (5,584)
Share of other comprehensivelossofassociatesand
joint ventures (2,785) (15,757)
Foreign currencytranslation differences (851,985) (863,769)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profitorloss
Net changesin fair value on investmentsin equityinstruments
designated as at FVTOCI (21,309) (67,953)
Net changesin employees’benefitsreserve 15,210 (29,956)
Other comprehensiveloss- net of tax (854,566) (983,019)
Total comprehensiveincome for theyear 198,054 438,911
Total comprehensiveincome attributable to:
Shareholdersofthe parent (725,623) 464,681
Non-controllinginterests 923,677 (25,770)
198,054 438,911
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Independentauditor’s reportis setoutin pages 1-7.

The accompanying notes set out in pages 16 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.




Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements
forthe year ended 31 December 2021
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER
Note 2021 2020%
QR.’o000 QR.’000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plantand equipment 12 14,868,664 26,120,103
Intangible assets, goodwilland long-term prepayments 13 18,088,422 26,454,938
Right-of-use assets 14 2,860,655 6,710,353
Investment properties 15 133,960 46,581
Investmentin associates andjointventures 16 1,646,154 1,695,507
Financialassets—equityinstruments 17 686,078 789,007
Othernon-current assets 18 184,744 777,742
Deferred taxassets 19 365,551 643,104
Contract costs 20 111,897 151,431
Total non-current assets 38,946,125 63,388,766
Current assets
Inventories 21 364,994 397,802
Contract costs 20 181,287 196,958
Trade and other receivables 22 5,300,765 7,783,113
Bankbalancesand cash 23 11,670,454 15,678,488
17,517,500 24,056,361
Assetsclassifiedas held forsale 46 20,893,903 291,934
Total current assets 38,411,403 24,348,295
Total assets 77:357,528 87,737,061
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital 24 3,203,200 3,203,200
Legal reserve 25 12,434,282 12,434,282
Fairvalue and otherreserves 25 393,453 410,925
Employees’ benefitsreserve 25 (5,583) (11,273)
Translationreserve 25 (8,634,620) (7,869,693)
Otherstatutoryreserves 25 1,326,968 1,304,333
Retained earnings 12,504,113 13,277,770
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent 21,221,813 22,749,544
Non-controlling interests 5,186,715 5,451,279
Total equity 26,408,528 28,200,823

* Refertonote 48 fordetailsregarding certain reclassifications.

Independentauditor’s reportis setoutin pages 1-7.
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The accompanying notes set out in pages16to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements
forthe year ended 31 December 2021
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER

Note 2021 2020%*
QR.’000 QR.’000
LIABILITIES
Non-currentliabilities
Loans and borrowings 28 18,943,487 24,325,514
Employees’ benefits 29 572,093 757,163
Leaseliabilities 32 3,557,607 6,263,940
Deferredtaxliabilities 19 - 301,438
Othernon-currentliabilities 30 913,591 2,550,753
Contract liabilities 33 9,972 8,247
Total non-currentliabilities 23,996,750 34,207,055
Currentliabilities
Loans and borrowings 28 824,968 5,469,301
Leaseliabilities 32 629,569 1,096,463
Trade andotherpayables 31 8,943,056 15,333,582
Deferredincome 27 1,264,377 2,154,890
Contract liabilities 33 46,748 192,456
Income tax payable 19 320,220 1,082,491
12,028,938 25,329,183
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 46 14,923,312 -
Total currentliabilities 26,952,250 25,329,183
Total liabilities 50,949,000 59,536,238
Total equityand liabilities 77,357,528 87,737,061

* Refertonote 48 fordetailsregarding certain reclassifications.

Chairman

Independentauditor’sreportis setout in pages 1-7.
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Nasser Mohammed Marafih

DeputyChairman
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The accompanying notes set out in pages16to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements

forthe year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to shareholders of the parent

Fairvalue Employees’ Other Non —
Share Legal and other benefits Translation statutory Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserves reserve reserve reserves earnings Total interests equity
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

At1 January 2020 3,203,200 12,434,282 550,809 5,975 (7,314,294) 1,299,489 12,947,508 23,126,969 5,978,017 29,104,986
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1,126,475 1,126,475 295,455 1,421,930
Other comprehensive loss - - (89,147) (17,248) (555,399) - - (661,794) (321,225) (983,019)
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year - - (89,147) (17,248) (555,399) - 1,126,475 464,681 (25,770) 438,911
Realized gain on FVTOCI investment recycled to

retained earnings - - (50,737) - - - 50,737 - - -
Transactions with shareholders of the

parent, recognised directly in equity
Dividends (Note 34) - - - - - - (800,800) (800,800) - (800,800)
Transfer to other statutory reserves - - - - - 4,844 (4,844) - - -
Transactions with non-controlling

interests, recognised directly in equity -
Change in non-controlling interest of associate - - - - - 639 639 - 639
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - (500,667) (500,667)
Transactions with non-owners of the

Group, recognised directly in equity
Transfer to employee association fund - - - - - - (1,587) (1,587) (301) (1,888)
Transfer to social and sports fund - - - - - - (40,358) (40,358) - (40,358)
At 31December 2020 3,203,200 12,434,282 410,925 (11,273)  (7,869,693) 1,304,333 13,277,770 22,749,544 545,279 28,200,823

Independentauditor’s reportis setoutin pages 1-7.
The accompanying notes set out in pages16to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements
forthe year ended 31 December 2021
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Attributable to shareholders of the parent

Fair
value Employees’ Other Non —
Share Legal and other benefits Translation statutory Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserves reserve reserve reserves earnings Total interests equity
QR.000 QR.000 QR.000 QR.000 QR.000 QR.000 QR.000 QR.000 QR.000 QR.000
At1 January 2021 3,203,200 12,434,282 410,925 (11,273)  (7,869,693) 1,304,333 13,277,770 22,749,544 5,451,279 28,200,823
Profit for the year - - - - - - 46,918 46,918 1,005,702 1,052,620
Other comprehensive income/ (loss) - - (17,472) 9,858 (764,927) - - (772,541) (82,025) (854,566)
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year = - (17,472) 9,858 (764,927) - 46,918 (725,623) 923,677 198,054
Employee benefit reserve recycled to retained
earnings - - - (4,168) - - 4,168 - - -
Transactions with shareholders of the
parent, recognised directly in equity
Dividend (Note 34) - - - - - - (800,800) (800,800) - (800,800)
Transfer to other statutory reserves - - - - - 22,635 (22,635) = = =
Transactions with non-controlling
interests, recognised directly in equity
Change in non-controlling interest of associate - - - - - - 1,348 1,348 - 1,348
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest - - - - - - - = (1,187,926) (1,187,926)
Transactions with non-owners of the
Group, recognised directly in equity -
Transfer to employee association fund = = = = = = (1,666) (1,666) (315) (1,981
Transfer to social and sports fund - - - - - = (990) (990) = (990)
At 31 December 2021 3,203,200 12,434,282 393,453 (5,583)  (8,634,620) 1,326,068 12,504,113 21,221,813 5,186,715 26,408,528

Independent auditor’s reportis setoutin pages 1-7.
The accompanying notes set out on pages16to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

PRICOMRERHOUSE(QOPERS .o s
FOR IDENTIFICATION PURPOSE ONLY

N e = L e . E

13



Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements
forthe year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Note 2021 2020%
QR.’000 QR.’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax 1,679,317 1,625,029
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 7 7,974,443 8,245,460
Dividend income 5 (50,305) (68,501)
Impairmentlosses on financial assets 38 230,383 360,775
Impairmentlosseson goodwill and other non-financial assets 26 2,400,464 407,184
Gain on disposal of inve stments at FVTPL - 26
Changesin fair value of investments at FVTPL (18,040) (10,733)
Gain on disposal of non financial assets 9.1/9.2 (1,682,038) (142,789)
Gain on disposal of an investment in associate - (21,407)
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary 9.2 (250,544) -
Finance costs 8 1,994,364 2,149,685
Finance income 8 (190,055) (254,109)
Provision for employees’ benefits 29 118,655 135,380
Share of results of associates and joint ventures 16 (80,462) (35,276)
Operating profit before working capital changes 12,126,182 12,390,724
Working capital changes:
Changesin inventories 21 28,180 159,503
Changesin trade and other receivables 22 214,267 419,048
Changes in contract costs 20 33,812 (5,180)
Changesin trade and other payables 31 (1,541,663) 901,939
Changesin contract liabilities 33 (94,304) 71,454
Cash generated from operations 10,766,474 13,937,488
Interest paid 28 (1,935,825) (1,961,274)
Employees’ benefits paid 29 (183,173) (161,355)
Income tax paid 19 (672,248) (704,088)
Net cash generated from operating activities 7,975,228 11,110,771
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 12 (4,736,420) (5,626,943)
Acquisition of intangible assets 13 (1,224,986) (562,173)
Additional inve stments in associates (809) (2,686)
Acquisition of financial assets - e quity instruments = (8,011)
Proceeds from disposal of non financial assets 9.1/9.2 2,813,609 343,939
Disposal of available for sale investments 1,507 65,817
Proceeds from disposal of an inve stment in associate - 79,872
Released restricted deposits 324,100 110,124
Additions to restricted deposits (149,285) (185,790)
Netmovementin short-term deposits (180,047) 76,511
Movementin other non-current assets (55,971) (14,452)
Dividendsreceived from an associate and ajoint venture 18,854 64,186
Other dividends received 50,305 68,501
Interestreceived 189,382 253,360
Net cash used in investing activities (2,949,761) (5,337,745)
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements
forthe year ended 31 December 2021
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Note 2021 2020%
QR.’000 QR.’000
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 10,115,417 8,244,131
Repayments ofloans and borrowings (15,525,788) (9,205,411)
Principal element of lease payments 32 (1,084,254) (1,280,481)
Additions to deferred financing costs (78,396) (3,614)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent 34 (800,800) (800,800)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries (1,187,926) (500,667)
Movement in other non-current liabilities (537,497) (344,326)
Net cash used in financing activities (9,099,244) (3,891,168)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,073,777) 1,881,858
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 14,609,483 13,353,881
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations 1,108,604 (626,256)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 23 11,644,310 14,609,483

* Refertonote 48 for detailsregarding certain reclassifications.
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Independentauditor’s reportis setoutin pages 1-7.
The accompanying notes set out in pages 16 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

1. REPORTING ENTITY

QatarPublic Telecommunications Corporation (the “Corporation”) was formed on 29 June 1987 domiciled
in the State of Qatar by Law No. 13 0f 1987 to provide domestic and international telecommunication services
within the State of Qatar. The Company’s registered officeis located at 100 Westbay Tower, Doha, State of
Qatar.

The Corporation was transformed into a Qatari Shareholding Company under the name of Qatar Telecom
(Qtel) Q.S.C. (the “Company”) on 25 November 1998, pursuant to Law No. 21 0f1998.

In June 2013, the legal name of the Company was changed to Ooredoo Q.S.C. This change had been duly
approved by the shareholders at the Company’s extraordinary general assembly meeting held on 31 March
2013.

The Company changed its legal name from Ooredoo Q.S.C.to Ooredoo Q.P.S.C. to comply with the
provisionsof the new Qatar Commercial Companies Lawissued on 7 July 2015,

The Company is a telecommunications service provider licensed by the Communications Regulatory
Authority (CRA) to provide both fixed and mobile telecommunications services in the state of Qatar. Asa
licensed service provider, the conduct and activities of the Company are regulated by CRA pursuant to Law
No. 34 of 2006 (Telecommunications Law) and the Applicable Regulatory Framework.

During theyear, the Qatar Commerciallawnumber 11 0f 2015 hasbeen amended by Lawnumber 8 of 2021.
The managementhas assessed the compliance of the Company and the required changesto the Article of the
Association will be amended in the upcoming Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to asthe “Group”) provides domestic and international
telecommunication servicesin Qatar and elsewhere in the Asiaand Middle Eastand North African (MENA)
region. Qatar Holding L.L.C.is the Parent Company of the Group. Qatar Holding L..L..C. s controlled by Qatar
Investment Authority — the sovereign wealth fund of the State of Qatar — (the “Ultimate parent™).

Inline withanamendmentissued by Qatar Financial Markets Authority (“QFMA”), effective from May 2018,
listed entities are required to comply with the Qatar Financial Markets Authority’s law and relevant
legislations including Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities Listed on the Main Market (the
“Governance Code”). The Group has taken appropriate steps to comply with the requirements of the
Governance Code.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised
for issuancein accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Group on 14 February 2022.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and applicable
requirementsofthe lawsin Qatar.

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statementshave been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the following:

° Equityinstruments, classified as Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (“FVTOCI”) and
FairValue Through Profitand Loss (“FVTPL”), are measured atfair value;

° Derivative financial instrumentsare measured at fair value;

° Liabilities for long term incentive points-based payments arrangements are measured at FVIPL;
and

° Assetsclassified asheld forsale are measured at the lower of their carryingamount or fair value less
cost tosell.

Historical cost is based on the fair value of the consideration, which is given in exchange for goods and
services. The methodsused to measure fair values are discussed furtherin note 39.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Qatari Riyals, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands (QR.’000) except when otherwise
indicated.
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Judgments, estimates and risk management

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The significant
judgments made by management in applyingthe Group’s accounting policies, the key sources of estimation
uncertainty and financial risk management objectivesand policiesare disclosed in 38.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Ooredoo Q.P.S.C. and its
subsidiaries. The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all the periods
presented (except as mentioned otherwise) in these consolidated financial statements, and have been
applied consistently by the Group entities, where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of the subsidiariesto bring their accounting policies in line with those used by the Group.

3.1 GOING CONCERN

The directorshave, at the time of approving the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation
that the Group hasadequate resourcesto continuein operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus,
they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

3.2  BAsiS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (including structured entities) and its subsidiaries. Controlis achieved when the
Company:

- haspowerovertheinvestee;
- isexposed,orhasrights, to variable returns from itsinvolvement with the investee; and
- hasthe abilityto useitspowerto affect returns.

The Company reassesses whether ornot it controls aninvesteeif facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changesto one or more of the three elementsof controllisted above.

When the Company haslessthan a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or
not the Company’svoting rightsin an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

- thessize ofthe Company’s holding of voting rightsrelative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
othervoteholders;

- potentialvotingrightsheld by the company, other vote holders or other parties;

- rights arisingfrom contractual arrangements; and

- anyadditional facts and circumstances thatindicate that the company has or does not have the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patternsat previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Companyandto the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributable to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests havinga deficitbalance.
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiariesto bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’saccounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

The Group accounts for business combinations usingthe acquisition method when control is transferred to
the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisitionis measured at fair value, as are the identifiable
net assetsacquired, and any amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. Any goodwill that arises
is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit orloss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, exceptifrelated to the
issue of debtorequitysecurities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. Such amountsare generally recognised in profit orloss.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, then itis not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration, classified asan assetorliabilitythatis a financial instrument and within scope of
IFRS 9 Financial instruments, is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit orloss inaccordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent considerationsthat are
not within the scope of IFRS 9 are measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value
recognised in profit orloss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and
the amount recognized for non-controlling interests and any previousinterestheld, over the net identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assetsacquired isin excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group reassesses whetherit correctlyidentified all of the assetsacquired and
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognized at
the acquisition date. If the reassessment still resultsin an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over
the aggregate consideration transferred, thenthe gainis recognized in profitorloss.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reportsin the consolidated financial statements provisional amounts for
the items for whichthe accountingis incomplete. During the measurement period, which is nolonger than
one year from the acquisition date, the provisional amounts recognized at acquisition date are retrospectively
adjusted to reflect newinformation obtained about factsand circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date and,ifknown, would have affected the measurement of the amountsrecognized asof thatdate. During
the measurement period, the Group also recognizes additional assets or liabilities if new information is
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have
resultedin the recognition of those assetsand liabilities as of that date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocatedto each of our cash-generating units, or CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assetsorliabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill acquiredin a business combination has yetto be allocated to identifiable CGUs because the
initial accounting is incomplete, such provisional goodwill is not tested forimpairment unless indicators of
impairment exist and we can reliably allocate the carrying amount of goodwill to a CGU or group of OGUs
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. Where goodwill has been
allocatedto a CGU and part ofthe operation within that unitis disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operationdisposed ofis included in the carryingamount of the operationwhen determining the gain orloss
on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative
values of the disposed operation and the portion ofthe CGU retained.
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2  BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

B) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI”)

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equitytransactions.

0)] SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls anentity whenit is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through itspower overthe entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

D) LoOSS OF CONTROL

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair
valuewhen control is lost.

E) INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control.
Significantinfluenceis the powerto participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control orjoint control overthose policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights tothenet assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

Interests in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are recognised
initially at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses of the
associates and joint ventures in excess of the Group’s interest are not recognised unless the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations on their behalf. The carrying values of investments in associates
and jointventuresare reviewed on a regular basis and if animpairment inthe value has occurred, it is written
off in the period in which those circumstancesare identified.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition overthe Group’s share of the fair values of the identifiable net assets of
the associatesandjointventuresat the date of acquisitionis recognised as goodwill and included as part of
the cost of investment. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisitionbelowthe Group’sshare of the fair values of
the identifiable net assets of the associates and joint ventures at the date of acquisition is credited to the
consolidated statement of profit orloss in the year of acquisition.

The Group’s share of associates’ and joint ventures’results is based on the most recent financial statements
orinterim financial statements drawnup tothe Group’s reporting date. For one of the Group’sjoint ventures,
the Group accounts for its share in the results, assets and liabilities of its joint venture, which is an
investment entity and applies fair value measurement to its subsidiaries, using the equity method of
accounting.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group (incuding its
consolidated subsidiaries) and its associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated group’sinterestsin the associates orjoint ventures.
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
F) TRANSACTIONS ELIMINATED ON CONSOLIDATION

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and joint ventures
are eliminated againsttheinvestmentto the extentof the Group’sinterestin the investee. Unrealised losses
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of

impairment.
The subsidiaries of the Group, incorporated inthe consolidated financial statements of Ooredoo Q.P.S.C. are
as follows:
Group effective
Country of shareholding
Name of subsidiary Principal activity . ye percentage as at
ncorporation
31 December
2021 2020
Ooredoo Investment Holding W.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
S(irecdoo International Investments Investment company Qatar 100% 100%
Ooredoo Group L.L.C. Managementservice | i, 100% 100%
company
hE ia Holdi .
‘(/)Voiegoo South East Asia Holding Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
West Bay Holding W.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
Qoredoo Asian Investments Pte. Ltd. Investment company Singapore 100% 100%
Al Dafna Holding W.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
Al Khor Holding W.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
IP Holdings Limited Investment company Cayman Islands 100% 100%
Qoredoo Myanmar Tower Holding Co. | Investment company Cayman Islands 100% 100%
wi-tribe Asia Limited Investment company Cayman Islands 100% 100%
Ooredoo Asia Pte. Ltd. Investment company Singapore 100% 100%
Opr(?doo International Finance Investment company Bermuda 100% 100%
Limited
MENA Investcom W.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
Omani Qatari Telecommunications Telecommunication Oma 0% 0%
CompanyS.A.0.G. (“Ooredoo Oman”) | company n 55-0% 55.07%
Starlink W.L.L. Telecommunication Qatar 72.5% 72.5%
company
National Mobile Telecommunications | Telecommunication .
. K 19 1%
CompanyK.S.C.P (“Ooredoo Kuwait”) | company uwait 92.1% 9216
Wataniya International FZ — L.L.C. Investment company g;lit:aiirab 92.1% 92.1%
él-Bahal; United Company W.L.L. Telecommunication Kuwait 92.1% 92.1%
(“Phono”) company
Al Wataniya Gulf Telecommunications . o o
Holding CompanyW.L.L Investment company Bahrain 92.1% 92.1%
Ooredoo Maldives PLC Telecommunication Maldives 83.3% 83.3%
company
WAREF Telecom International Pvt. Ltd. Telecommunication Maldives 59.9% 59.9%
company
Wataniya Telecom Algerie S.P.A. Telecommunication . o o
(”Ooredoo Algeria”) company Algeria 74-1% 74-4%
Ooredoo Consortium Ltd. Investment company Malta 92.1% 92.1%
Dugm Data Centre SAOC (i) z‘;llfgca)nmymumcatlon Oman 39.0% 30.0%
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

(i) TRANSACTIONS ELIMINATED ON CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

Group effective
shareholding
percentage as at

Country of 31 December
Name of subsidiary Principal activity incorporation 2021 2020
Qoredoo Tunisia Holdings Ltd. Investment company Malta 92.1% 92.1%
Ooredoo Malta Holdings Ltd. Investment company Malta 100% 100%
.. Tel icati ..
Ooredoo Tunisie S.A. elecommunication Tunisia 84.1% 84.1%
company
Wataniya Palestine Mobile
Telecommunications Public Telecommunication Palestine % %
Shareholding Company (“Ooredoo company stn 45-470 45-470
Palestine”) (ii)
Raywood Inc. Investment company Cayman Islands 100% 100%
Newood Inc. Investment company Cayman Islands 100% 100%
Midya Telecom Company Limited Telecommunication
- I .09 .0%
(“Fanoos”) (iii) company raq AT 49.07%
Al-Rowad General Services Limited Investment company Iraq 100% 100%
Asiacell Communications PJSC Telecommunication Iraq 64.1% 64.1%
company
wi-tribe Limited Investment company Cayman Islands 86.1% 86.1%
Barzan Holding W.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
Laffan HoldingW.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
Zekreet Holding W.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
Ooredoo Myanmar Ltd. Telecommunication Myanmar 100% 100%
company
Al Wokaer Holding W.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
Al Wakrah HoldingW.L.L Investment company Bahrain 100% 100%
Ooredoo Tamweel Ltd. Investment company Cayman Islands 100% 100%
OoredooIP L.L.C. Management service Qatar 100% 100%
company
. M t i
Ooredoo Global Services L.L.C anagement service Qatar 100% 100%
company
35};?1114121 International Investments Investment company Qatar 100% 100%
Fast Telecommunications Company Telecommunication Kuwait 92.1% 92.1%
W.L.L. company
Ooredoo Myanmar Fintech Limited Telecommunication Myanmar 100% 100%
company
OIH Investment L.L.C. Investment company Qatar 100% 100%
Al Wokaer East L.L.C. Investment company Qatar 100% 100%
Barzan East L.L.C. Investment company Qatar 100% 100%
Qoredoo Financial ServicesL.L.C Investment company Qatar 100% 100%
Al Wakra East L.L.C. Investment company Qatar 100% 100%
OSEA Investment L.L.C. Investment company Qatar 100% 100%
AlAbraj Alaoula for General . o
Contracting W.L.L Contracting Company Qatar 100% -
Eurl ‘Medlterraneenne Prestations De Contracting Company | Algeria 74.4% B
Services
Gulf Towers S.P.C Contracting and Oman 55.0% -
Maintenance Company
. Tradi .
Kuwait Towers W.L.L rading :and Kuwait 92.1% -
Contracting Company
Tunisia Towers Infraco L.L.C AdVlsoryserche§ on Tunisia 84.1% -
telecommunications
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Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
()  TRANSACTIONS ELIMINATED ON CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

Group effective
shareholding
Country of percentage as at
Name of subsidiary Principal activity incorporation 31 December
2021 2020
PT. Indosat Tbk (“Indosat Ooredoo”) Telecommunication Indonesia 65.0% 65.0%
company
Indosat Singapore Pte. Ltd. Management service Singapore 65.0% 65.0%
company
PT Indosat Mega Media (v) Telecommunication Indonesia - 64.9%
company
. o Tel icati .
PT Starone Mitra Telekomunikasi elecommunication Indonesia 65.0% 65.0%
company
PT AplikanusaLintasarta (iv) Telecommunication Indonesia 47.0% 47.0%
company
PT Lintas Media Danawa (iv) Investment company Indonesia 32.9% 32.9%
PT Interactive Vision Media Telecommunication Indonesia 64.9% 64.9%
company
PT Portal Bursa Digital (iv) Investment company Indonesia 40.3% 40.3%

0] The Group holds an effective 39% (2020: 39%) of Dugm Data Centre SAOC and has established
control overtheentity, asit can demonstrate power, indirectly, through Omani Qatari Telecommu nications
Company S.A.O.G. (“Ooredoo Oman”) by virtue of Ooredoo Oman having more than 51% of the voting
interestor control in thiscompany. This exposes the Groupto variable returns from its investment and gives
the Group the ability to affect those returns through its power over them, hence, this company has been
considered as a subsidiary of the Group.

(i) The Group holdsaneffective 45.4% (2020: 45.4%) of Ooredoo Palestine and hasestablished control
over the entity as it can demonstrate power through its indirect ownership of National Mobile
Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. (“NMTC”) by virtue of NMTCholding 49.3% of the voting interests
in Wataniya Palestine Mobile Telecommunications Public Shareholding Company (“Ooredoo Palestine”)
along with itsrightto appoint the majority of the board of directors at all times, where major decisions are
taken with simple majority. NMTC has also entered into an arrangement with the other majority
shareholder, where NMTC is able to unilaterally make decisions over the relevant activities of Ooredoo
Palestine. Thisexposes the Groupto variable returns and gives the Group the ability to affect those returns
throughits power over Ooredoo Palestine.

(iii) The Group incorporated Raywood Inc (“Raywood”), a special purpose entity registered in Cayman
Islandswith100% (2020: 100%)votinginterestheld by the Groupto carry outinvestment activities in Iraq.
Raywood acquired a 49% votinginterest in Midya Telecom Company Limited (“Fanoos”) in Iraq. Although
the Groupholdslessthana majority of the voting rights of Fanoos, the Group can still demonstrate its power
by virtue of shareholders’ agreement entered into between Raywood and Fanoos, Iraq. This arrangement
exposesthe Groupto variable returns and gives the Group the ability to affect those returns over Fanoos.

(@iv) The Group has the power indirectly through PT Indosat Tbk (“Indosat Ooredoo”) by virtue of Indosat
Ooredoo holding more than 50% of the voting interests in these companies. This exposes the Group to
variable returns from their investment and gives the Group the ability to affect those returns through its
power over them. Hence, these companies have been considered as subsidiaries of the Group.

v) Refertonote 37 for detailsregarding the de-consolidation.
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Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.3 CHANGES TO SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January2021,havebeen adopted in these consolidated financial statements:

New and revised IFRSs Effective
for

annual
periods
beginning
on or after

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2 — Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,IFRS 7,| 1January
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 2021

In August2020, theIASB made amendmentsto IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
to addresstheissuesthat arise during the reform of aninterest rate benchmark rate, including
the replacement of one benchmark with an alternative one.

The Phase 2 amendments provide the following reliefs:

» When changing the basis for determining contractual cash flows for financial assets and
liabilities (including lease liabilities), the reliefs have the effect that the changes, that are
necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR reform and which are considered economically
equivalent, willnot resultin an immediate gainorloss in the income statement.

» The hedge accounting reliefs will allow most IAS 39 or IFRS 9 hedgerelationshipsthatare
directly affected by IBOR reform tocontinue. However, additional ineffe ctive ness might need

tobe recorded.

The Group hasperformed exercise to quantifythe impact of the amendments asbelow:
Loans and borrowings:

The followingtable contains detailsof all of the financial instrumentsthat Entity A holds at

31 December 2021 which reference USD LIBOR and have notyet transitioned to SONIA or
an alternative interestrate benchmark:

Carrying Have yetto transition to
Valueat 31 an alternative benchmark
December interestrateasat31
2021 December 2021:

Non-derivative assets and liabilities QAR.’000 QAR.’000

exposedto USD LIBORmeasured at

amortised cost

Loans and Borrowings 19,768,455 | 4,259,414

Hedge accounting;:

Forthe yearended 31 December 2021, the Group hasadopted the following hedge accounting
reliefs provided by ‘phase 2’ of the amendments The Group does not have any financial
instrument affected by the one-week and two-month LIBOR that were discontinued in 2021.
Overnight, 1-month, 3-month, 6-month, and 12-month maturities will continue to be
published through June 2023. The Group will be embarking upon a process overthe course
of 2022 to replace LIBOR linked contracts with alternative benchmarks.
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The Group does nothave material exposure from hedge

Financial instruments measured usingamortised cost measurement and
derivatives:

The Group does nothave material exposure to IBOR reform from other financial
instrumentsand derivatives.

COVID-19-related Rent Concessions — Amendmentsto IFRS 16

1June

2020/1
April
2021

[n May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendmentto IFRS 16)
that provides practicalreliefto lesseesin accounting for rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of COVID-19, by introducing a practical expedient to IFRS 16. The practical
expedient permitsalesseetoelect notto assesswhethera COVID-19-related rent concession
is alease modification. A lessee that makes this election shall account for any change in lease
payments resulting from the COVID-19-related rent concession the same way it would
accountforthe change applying IFRS 16 ifthe change were not a lease modification.

The practical expedient appliesonlyto rent concessions occurringas a direct consequence of
COVID-19 and onlyifall of the following conditions are met:

a) The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

b) Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30
June 2021 (arent concession meets this conditionifit resultsin reduced lease payments
on or before 30 June 2021 and increased lease payments that extend beyond 30 June
2021);and

c¢) There is no substantive change to other termsand conditionsof the lease.

The reliefwasoriginallylimited toreductionin lease paymentsthat were due on orbefore 30
June 2021. However, the IASB subsequently extended thisdate to 30 June 2022.

In the currentfinancial year, the Group hasapplied the amendment to IFRS 16 (as issued by
the IASB in May 2020).

Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts
reportedin these consolidated financial statements.

24




Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.3 CHANGES TO SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2. Impact of new standards (issued but notyet adopted by the Group)

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and interpretations have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2021 reporting periods and have not been early adopted
by the Group. The management of the Group isin the process of assessing the impact of these new standards,
interpretations and amendments which will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statement as
and when they are applicable.

3.4 REVENUE

Revenueis measured at anamount that reflects the considerations, to which an entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring goods or services to customers, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue is adjusted for expected discounts and volume discounts, which are estimated based on the
historical data or forecast and projections. The Group recognizes revenue when it transfers control over
goods orservices toits customers.

Revenue from telecommunication services mainly consists of access charges, airtime usage, messaging,
interconnect fees, data and connectivity services, connection fees and other related services. Services are
offered separately or as bundled packages alongwith otherservices and/or devices.

Forbundle packages, the Group accountsforindividual products and services separatelyif they are distinct
i.e.ifa productorserviceis separately identifiable from otheritemsin the bundled package and if a customer
can benefit from it. The consideration is allocated between separate products and services (i.e. distinct
performance obligations, “PO”) in a bundle based on their stand-alone selling prices.

The stand-alone selling prices are determined based on the observable price at which the Group sells the
products and services on a standalone basis. For items that are not sold separately (e.g. customer loyalty
program) the Group estimates standalone selling prices using other methods (i.e. adjusted market
assessment approach, cost plusmarginapproach orresidual approach).

Recognition of revenue

Management considers recognizing revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met, otherwise
revenue willberecognized at a pointin time:

a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance asthe Group performs;

b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created orenhanced; or

c) the Group’s performance doesnot create anasset with an alternative use tothe entity and the entity
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

The Group principally obtains revenue from followingkey segments:
Mobile services

Mobile service contracts typically consist of specific allowances for airtime usage, messaging, data, and
connection fees. In this type of arrangement, the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits as the Group performs the service. Thus, the revenue is recognized over the period as and when
theseservices are provided.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.4 REVENUE (Continued)
Fixed services

The Group offers fixed services which normally include installation and configuration services, internet
connectivity, television and telephony services. These services are bundled with locked or unlocked
equipment, such as routers and/or set-top boxes. Similar to mobile service contracts, fixed service revenue
with locked equipment is recognized over the contract period, whereas revenue recognition for unlocked
equipment is upontransfer of controlto the customer.

Sale ofunlocked devices

Devices such as smartphones, tablets, Mi-Fis and other similar devices that are sold separately and are not
bundled with mobile/fixed service contracts, have standalone value to the customer and are unlocked
devices. The revenue from the sale of unlocked devices is recognized at a point in time upon transfer of
control to the customer.

Interconnectionservice

Revenue from the interconnection of voice and data traffic with other telecommunications operators is
recognised overtime as and whenthetransitoccurred across our network.

Revenue fromtransitservices

The Group determines whetherit will be acting as principal or an agent on these types of arrangements and
accordingly recognises gross revenue if it is a principal, and net revenue if it is an agent. The revenue is
recognized over the period as and whenthese services are provided.

Customer loyalty schemes

The Group has concluded that: (i) it is actingas a principal when the customerloyalty points are redeemed
through the Group’s own services or products and recognizes revenue on a gross basis; and (ii) is acting as
an agenton customer loyalty scheme arrangements which are redeemed through its partners where revenue
isrecognised on a netbasis.

The Group concluded that the loyalty scheme givesrise to a separate performance obligation because it
generally provides a material right to the customer. The Group allocates a portion of the transaction price
tothe loyalty schemeliabilitybased on the relative standard standalone selling price of loyalty points and a
contract liabilityis recognised until the points are redeemed or expired.

Value-added services

The Group has offerings where it provides customers with additional content, such as music and video
streaming and SMS services, as Value-Added Services (VAS). For these types of services, the Group
determineswhethertheyareactingasa principal and accordingly recognizes grossrevenueifit isa principal,
and net revenue where they have concluded theyare an agent.

Connectionfees
The Group has concluded that connection fees charged forthe activation of services will be recognized over

the contract period. The connection fees that are not considered as a distinct performance obligation shall
form part of the transaction price and recognised over the period of service.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.4 REVENUE (Continued)
Multi elements arrangements (Mobile contract plus handset)

The Group hasconcluded thatin case of multiple elementsarrangements with subsidized products delivered
in advance, the component delivered in advance (e.g. mobile handset), will require recognition of a contract
asset. Contractasset primarilyrelates to the Group’s right to consideration for services and goods provided
but not billed at the reporting date.

Installation cost,commissionsto third party dealers, marketing expenses

The Group has concluded that commissions and installation costs meet the definition of incremental costs
toacquire a contract ora cost to fulfil a contract. The Group has capitalized these expenses as contract cost
assets and amortized as per portfolio approach. Recognized contract assets will be subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS g requirements.

Upfront comimission

The Group has concluded that the sale of prepaid cards to dealers or distributors where the Group retainsits
control overthe prepaid cards isassessed as a consignment arrangement. Thus, the Group shall not recognize
revenue upon sale to dealers or distributors but upon utilisation or expiration of prepaid cards.
Consequently, the commission arising from the sale of prepaid cardsis recognized as anexpense.

In cases where the Group transfers its control over the prepaid cards to dealers, distributors or customers,
the Group hasconcluded that the upfront commission qualifies asa consideration payable to a customer and
therefore will be treated asa reduction of the transaction price. Similarly, the Group shall recognise revenue
only uponutilisation or expiration of prepaid cards (expiration typicallybeing 1 to 2 yearsfrom the issuance
date).

Commission income

When the Groupactsin the capacity of an agentratherthan as the principalin the transaction, the revenue
recognised is the netamount of commission made bythe Group.

Ancillary serviceincome
Revenue from ancillary servicesis recognised when these servicesare provided.
Significant financing component

The Group hasdecided to recognize interest expense at an appropriate annual interest rates over the contract
period and total transaction price including financing component is recognized when equipmentis delivered
toacustomer.

Contract assetsand liabilities

The Group has determined that contract assets and liabilities are to be recognised at the performance
obligation level and not at the contract level and both contract assets and liabilities are to be presented
separatelyin the consolidated financial statements. The Group classifies its contract assets and liabilities as
current and non-current based on the timingand pattern of flow of economic benefits.

Discountsand promotions

The Group provides various discounts and promotions to its customers, which may be agreed at inception
or provided during the contract term. The impact and accounting of these discounts and promotions vary
and mayresultin recognition of contract assets.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.5 LEASES

A. Definition ofleases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a leaseifthe contract conveys the right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract
conveys therightto control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

a. The contractinvolves the use of an identified asset — this maybe specified explicitly orimplicitly, and
shouldbe physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset.
If the supplierhas a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

b. The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset
throughout the period of use;and

¢. The Group hastherightto directthe use of the asset. The Group has the right when ithas the decision-
making rights that are mostrelevant to changing howand for what purposethe asset is used. In rare
cases where the decision about howand for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the Group
hasthe rightto directtheuse ofthe asset ifeither:

(i) The Group hastheright to operate the asset; or
(ii) The Group designed the assetin a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be
used.

B.Asalessee

The Group leases several assetsincluding sites, office buildings, shops, vehicles and others. The average lease
termis 2to 20 years. Thelease agreements do notimpose any covenants but leased assets may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-
of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plusanyinitial direct costs incurred and
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset orto restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use
assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use
asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the
leaseliability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interestrateimplicit in the lease or, ifthat rate cannotbe readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowingrate over a period of lease term. The incremental borrowing
rate is therate ofinterest that the Group would have topay, to borrowover a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of- use asset, in a similar
economic environment. Generally, the Group usesits incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The lease term determined by the Group comprises non-cancellable period of lease contracts, periods
covered by an optionto extend thelease if the Groupisreasonably certaintoexercise that option and periods
coveredbyan option to terminate theleaseifthe Groupis reasonably certain not to exercise that option.
Lease paymentsincluded in the measurement of theleaseliability comprise the following:

a. Fixed payments; and

b. Lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably

certain notto terminate early.

The leaseliabilityis measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when
there is a changein future lease payments arising from a changein anindex orrate, ifthere is a changein
the Group’sestimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, orifthe Group
changesits assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.5 LEASES (CONTINUED)

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
assethasbeenreducedto zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets, which do not meet the definition of investment properties, separately
from other assets and also separately presents lease liabilities, in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases
of all class of underlying assetsthat have aleaseterm of 12 monthsorless, orthose leases which have low-
valueunderlying assets. The Group recognises thelease paymentsassociated with theseleases as an expense
on a straight-linebasisoverthelease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components and instead accounts
for each lease component and associated non-lease components as a singlelease component.

C.Asalessor

The Group performs an assessment of each lease on inception. If a lease transfers substantially all of the
risks and rewardsincidental toownership of the underlying asset, itis classified as a finance lease, otherwise,
itis classified as an operating lease. The Group also considers certainindicators, such as whetherthelease
is for the major part of the economiclife ofthe asset, as a partofits assessment.

The operating leases entered into by the Group mainly relate to tower sharing arrangements, which havea
leasetermof2to15years. Thelessee does nothave anoptionto purchasetheassetatthe expiryof thelease
period, and the unguaranteed residual values do notrepresent a significant risk for the Group.

The Group hasalso entered into finance lease arrangements for optical fibre agreements, which have a lease
term of15to 20 years.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease
separately. Thelease classification of a sub-lease is assessed with reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease, and not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group appliesthe claimed exemption, the sub-leaseis classified as anoperatinglease.

When an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contractswith Customers toallocate the consideration in the contract. The Group recognises lease payments
received under operating leases as income in the consolidated statement of profit orloss, on a straight line
basis overthe lease term.

3.6 OTHER GAINS / (LOSSES)

Othergains/ (losses) represents gains / (losses) generated by the Group that arise from activities outside of
the provision for communication services and equipment sales. Key components of other gains / (losses) are
recognised asfollows:

Fairvalue gains

Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, gains on the remeasurement to fair
value of any pre-existing interestin an acquire in a business combination and gains on hedginginstruments
that are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit orloss.

Foreign exchange gain and losses

Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as
either finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain
or net loss position.

3.7 TAXES

Some of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are subject to taxes on income in various foreign
jurisdictions. Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred tax.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.7 TAXES (CONTINUED)

Current incometax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current year and prior years are measured at the amount
expectedtoberecovered from or paidto thetaxationauthorities.

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by theend ofthe financial reporting year and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income taxis provided based on temporary differences at the end of the financial reporting year
betweenthetax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income taxliabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

+ where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neitherthe accounting profit orloss nortaxable profitorloss; and

+ Inrespectoftaxabletemporarydifferences associated withinvestmentsin subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will notreversein the foreseeable future.

Deferred income taxassets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused
tax credits and unutilised tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unutilised tax losses can be utilised except:

+  Where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an assetorliabilityin a transactionthat is nota business combination and, atthe
time of the transaction, affectsneither the accounting profit orloss nortaxable profitorloss; and

+ Inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probablethatthe temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each end of the financial reporting year
and reduced to the extent thatit is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are
reassessed at each end of the financial reporting year and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probablethat future taxable profit will allowthe deferred taxassetto be recovered.

Deferredincometaxassets and liabilitiesare measured atthetaxratesthatare expected to applyin the year
when the asset is realised or the liabilityis settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantivelyenacted atthe end of the financialreportingyear.

Deferredincometaxassets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, ifa legally enforceable right exists
toset off currentincome taxassetsagainst currentincome tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate
tothe sametaxable entityand the same taxation authority.

Current and deferredtax for the year

Current and deferred income tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the currentdeferred tax are
also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferredincometax arises from theinitial accounting for a business combination, the taxeffect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.

Tax exposure

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes intoaccount the impact of uncertain
tax positionsand whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New information may become
available that causes the Group to change its judgments regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities;
such changesto taxliabilities will impact taxexpense in the period that such a determinationis made.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 FINANCE COST

Finance costs comprise interest expense on lease liabilities and borrowings, unwinding of the discount on
provisionsrecognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

3.9 FINANCE INCOME

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested that is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profitorloss. Interestincome is recognised asit accruesin profit orloss, using effective interest
method.

3.10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Recognition and measurement:

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Assets in the course of constructionare carried at cost, lessany impairment.

Cost includes expenditure thatis directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The costs of self-
constructed assetsinclude the following:

+ The cost of materials and direct labor.

« Any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assetsto a working condition for their intendeduse;

+  When the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of
dismantlingand removing theitems and restoring the site on which theyarelocated; and

+ Capitalized borrowingcosts.

Cost also includes transfers from equity of any gain orlosson qualifying cash flowhedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the
related equipmentis capitalized as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for
as separateitems (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gainorlosson disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between
the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit orloss.

Capital work-in-progressis transferred to the related property, plant and equipment when the construction
or installationand related activities necessary to prepare the property and equipment for their intended use
have beencompleted, and the property and equipment are ready for operational use.

Transfer to investment properties

When the use of property changes from owner-occupied to investment properties, the property is reclassified
accordingly at the carrying amount on the date of transfer in accordance with cost model specified under IAS
40.

Expenditure

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted
for separatelyis capitalized and the carryingamount of the component thatis replaced is written off. Other
subsequent expenditure is capitalized onlywhenit increases future economic benefits of the related item of
property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
orloss asincurred.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basisin the consolidated statement
of profit or loss over the estimated useful lives of each component. Leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain
ownershipbytheend ofthe lease term. Land is not depreciated.

31



Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation of these assets commences from the date that they are installed and are ready for use, or in
respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use. The
estimated useful lives of the property, plantand equipment are as follows.

Buildings 5 — 40years
Exchange and networks assets 5 — 25years
Subscriber apparatusand other equipment 2 —10years

The carryingvalues of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If anysuch indication exists and where
the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their
recoverable amount, being the higher of their fair value less costs to selland their value in use.

Derecognition

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from itsuse or disposal. Any gain orloss arising on derecognition of the assetis included in the
consolidated statement of profit orloss in the year the asset is derecognised. The asset’s residual values,
usefullives and method of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.

3.11 BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of timeto get ready forits intended use orsale are capitalised as part
of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs thatthe Group incursin connection with the borrowing of funds.

3.12 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attachingto them and thatthe grants will be received.

Government grants arerecognized in profitorlosson a systematic basis over the periodsin which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-currentassets (including property, plantand equipment) are recognized as deferred income in
the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit orloss on a systematic and rational
basis overthe useful livesof the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support tothe Group with no future related costs are recognized in
profit orlossin the period in which they become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
marketinterest rates.

3.13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS, GOODWILL AND LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised
and expenditure is reflected in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in which the
expenditureis incurred.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
wheneverthere is an indication that the intangible asset maybeimpaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisationmethod for an intangible asset with a finite useful lifeis reviewed at each financial year.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS, GOODWILL AND LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodiedin theasset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and
treated as changesin accounting estimates. The amortisation expense onintangible assets with finite livesis
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit orloss in the expense category consistent with the nature
of the intangible asset.

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical
knowledge and understanding, is recognised in profit orloss as incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products
and processes. Development expenditure is capitalized only if development costs canbe measured reliably,
the product or processis technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and
the Group intends to and hassufficient resourcesto complete developmentand to use orsell the asset. The
expenditure capitalized includes the cost of materials, direct labor, overhead costs that are directly
attributable to preparing the asset forits intended use, and capitalized borrowing costs. Other d evelopment
expenditure is recognized in profitorloss as incurred. Capitalized development expenditure is measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairmentlosses.

Indefeasiblerightsofuse (“IRU” - Long termprepayments)

IRUs correspond to the right to use a portion of the capacity of a terrestrial or submarine transmission cable
granted for a fixed period. IRUs are recognised at cost as an asset when the Group has the specific
indefeasible right to use an identified portion of the underlying asset, generally optical fibres or dedicated
wavelength bandwidth, and the duration of the rightis for the major part of the underlying asset’s economic
life. They are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the expected period of use and thelife of
the contractwhichrangesbetween10to 15 years.

Capitalwork-in-progressrelated to IRUisinitially presented as part of property, plant and e quipment. When
the construction orinstallation and related activities necessaryto prepare the IRU for their intended use and
operations have been completed, the related IRU will be transferred from property, plant and equipment to
long term prepayments based on the specific contractualrights.

The useful livesof intangible assets are assessed to be either finite orindefinite.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of identifiable net assets of
the investee atthe date of acquisition whichis notidentifiable to specific assets.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination from the acquisition date is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units
or groups of units.

Each unitor group of unitsto which the goodwillis allocated:
+ represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for intemal
management purposes; and
+ isnotlargerthan a segment based on the Group’s operating segments as determined in accordance
with IFRS 8, Operating Segments.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS, GOODWILL AND LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

A summary of the useful livesand amortisation methods of Group’s intangible assets other than goodwill are
as follows:

Customer IRU*, software
. contractsand
License costs Brand / and other
related customer . .
: . Tradenames intangibles
relationship
Usefulli Finite Finite Finite Finite
setullrves (10—-50years) (2 —8years) (6 — 25years) (3 —15years)
Amortisedon a Amortisedon a Amortisedon a Amortisedon a
Amortisation straight linebasis | straightlinebasis | straightlinebasis | straightlinebasis
method used overthe periodsof | overthe periodsof | overthe periodsof | overthe periods
availability availability. availability of availability
Internally
generated or Acquired Acquired Acquired Acquired
acquired

* IRUs treated aslong term prepayments and generally amortised over (15) years.

3.14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held either to earnrental income or for capital appreciation or for both,
but not forsalein the ordinary course of business, usein the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment properties are initially measured at cost. Costincdudes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment properties. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment propertiesare stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation. Depreciation and
amortisation of investment properties are computed using the straight line method over the estimated useful
lives (EUL) of assets of twenty (20) years.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment, its fair value at
the date of reclassificationbecomesits cost for subsequent accounting.
Investment properties are depreciated on a straight line basis using estimated usefullife of 20 years.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
properties is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economicbenefit is expected from its disposal.
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment properties are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit orloss in the year of retirement or disposal.

3.15 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

For measurement and disclosure purposes, the Group determines the fair value of an asset or liability at
initial measurement or at each reporting date. Fair valueis the price thatwould bereceived to sell an asset
orpaid to transfera liabilityin an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:

+ Inthe principal market forthe assetorliability, or
+ Inthe absenceofa principal market,in the most advantageous market forthe assetorliability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liabilityis measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assumingthat market participantsactin their economicbest interest.

A fairvalue measurement of anon-financial asset takes intoaccount a market participant’s ability togenerate
economic benefits by using the asset in itshighestand best use or by sellingit to another market participant
that wouldusethe assetin itshighest and bestuse.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.15 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group uses valuationtechniquesthat are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use
of unobservable inputs.

Fair value for measurement and/ or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based paymenttransactions that are within the scope of IFRS
2; leasing transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 16 and measurements that have some similarities
tofairvalue,butare notfairvalue,suchas netrealisable valuein IAS 2 or valuein usein IAS 36.

All assetsand liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significantto thefair value measurementas a whole:

+ Level1—Quoted (unadjusted) market pricesin active markets foridentical assetsorliabilities.

+ Level2—Valuationtechniquesfor which thelowestlevel input that is significant to the fair value
measurementis directly orindirectly observable.

« Levelg—Valuationtechniquesforwhichthelowestlevel inputthat is significant to the fairvalue
measurementis unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowestlevel inputthat is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
atthe end ofeachreportingdate.

3.16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets
and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction coststhat are directly attributable to
the acquisition orissue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costsdirectly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediatelyin the consolidated statement of profit orloss.

3.17 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Allregularwaypurchasesorsalesof financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.

Regularway purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive or fair value through profit and loss, depending on the classification of the
financial assets.

Classificationoffinancial assets

) Debt instrumentsdesignated at amortised cost
Debt instrumentsthat meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

+ The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows; and

+ The contractual terms of the financial asset giverise on specified datesto cash flowsthat are solely
payments of principaland interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.17 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Amortised cost and effective interest rate method

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjustingfor any lossallowance.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocatinginterestincome over the relevant period.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised costand at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. Forfinancial assetsthathave subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent re porting
periods, the credit riskon the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

(i1) Debt instrumentsdesignated at FVTOCI
Debt instrumentsthat meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

+ The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cashflowsand sellingthe financial assets; and

+ The contractual terms of the financial asset giverise on specified datesto cash flowsthat are solely
payments of principaland interest on the principal amount outstanding.

(i) Equityinstruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initialrecognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis)
todesignateinvestments inequityinstruments asat FVTOCI. Designationat FVTOCI is not permitted if the
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirerin a
business combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value and other reserves. The
cumulative gain orloss will not be reclassified to consolidated statement of profit orloss on disposal of the
equityinvestments, instead, they willbe transferred to retained earnings.

Dividendson theseinvestmentsin equity instruments are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss unlessthe dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

(iv) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financialassetsthatdo notmeet the criteriaforbeingmeasured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL. Specifically:

+ Investmentsin equityinstrumentsare classified asat FVTPL, unlessthe Group designates an equity
investment thatis neitherheld fortradingnora contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

Financialassetsat FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains orlosses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit orloss.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.17 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Foreign exchange gains andlosses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated atthe spotrateat theend ofeachreporting period. Specifically:

« forfinancial assets measured at amortised cost thatare not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profitorloss in the ‘Other (Losses) / Gains —net’lineitem
(note 9);

+ for debtinstruments measured at FVTOCIthat are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences on the amortised cost of the debtinstrument are recognised in profitorlossin
the ‘Other (Losses) / Gains —net’lineitem (note 9). As the foreign currency element recognised in
profit orlossis the same asifit was measured at amortised cost, the residual foreign currency
elementbased on thetranslation of the carrying amount (atfair value)is recognised in other
comprehensiveincome in the investmentsrevaluationreserve;

« forfinancial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profitorloss in the ‘otherincome —net’lineitemas part of
the fairvalue gain orloss; and

« for equityinstruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income in the investmentsrevaluationreserve.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognisesa loss allowance for expected creditlosses (“ECL”) on investments in debt instruments
that are measured atamortised costor at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables, contract assets, aswell ason
financial guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changesin creditrisk sinceinitial recognition of the respective financialinstrument.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade and other receivables and contract assets. The expected credit
losses on these financial assets are estimated usinga provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current aswell asthe forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including
time value of money where appropriate. The Group has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate of
the countriesin whichit sellsits goodsand services to be the most relevant factors.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increasein credit risksince initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expectedlife of a financialinstrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected toresult from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.

(1) Significant increase in creditrisk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In makingthis assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
thatis reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.17 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Forfinancial guarantee contracts, the date thatthe Group becomesa party to theirrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changesin the risk that the specified
debtorwilldefault on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifyingsignificant increase in credit riskbefore the amountbecomes pastdue.

(i1) Definition of default

The Group employs flowrate models to analyse the historical data collected and generate estimates of
probability of default (“PD”) of exposures with the passage of time. This analysis includes the identification
for any changes in default rates and changes in key macro-economic factors across various geographies of
the Group.Fortradereceivables, the average credittermsare 30-90 days.

(1i1) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more eventsthat have a detrimentalimpact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includesobservable data about the following events:

(a) significantfinancial difficulty ofthe issuer ortheborrower.
(b) abreach of contract,suchas a default or past due event.

(c) the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, havinggranted to the borrower a concessionthat the lender would not otherwise consider.

(d) itis becomingprobablethattheborrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance ofan active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

(f) when the financial asset is 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

(iv) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical dataadjusted by forward-looking information. As forthe exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee
contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any
additionalamounts expected to be drawn downin the future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant
forward-looking information.

Forfinancial assets, the expected creditloss is estimated asthe difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive,discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Fora financial guarantee contract, as the Groupis required to make paymentsonlyin the event of a default
by the debtorin accordance with the terms of the instrument thatis guaranteed, the expected loss allowance
is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expectstoreceive from the holder, the debtor orany other party.

The Group recognisesan impairment gain orloss in consolidated statement of profit orloss forall financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value and other reserves, and does
not reduce the carryingamount of the financial assetin the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.17 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(v) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is informationindicating that the counterpartyis in severe
financial difficulty and thereis norealisticprospect of recovery.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, orwhenit transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of atransferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
assetandalsorecognisesa collateralised borrowing for the proceedsreceived.

Modification of financial assets

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual terms of the financial assets. The
Group assesses whether the modification of contractual cash flowsis substantial considering, among others,
the following factors: any new contractual terms that substantially affect the risk profile of the asset (e.g.
profit share orequity-based return), significant change in interest rate, change in the currency denomination
of the instrument, new collateral or credit enhancement that significantly affects the credit risk associated
with the asset or a significant extension of a loan whentheborroweris notin financial difficulties.

If the modified terms are substantially different, the rights to cash flows from the original asset expire and
the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new asset at its fair value. The date of
renegotiation is considered to be the date of initial recognition for subsequent impairment calculation
purposes, including determining whether a significant increase eventhas occurred. The Group also assesses
whetherthe newloanordebtinstrument meetsthesolely payments of principal and interest criterion. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the original asset derecognised and fair value of the new
substantially modified asset isrecognised in profit orloss, unless the substance of the difference is attributed
toa capitaltransaction with owners.

In a situation where the renegotiation was driven by financial difficulties of the counterparty and inability to
make the originally agreed payments, the Group compares the original and revised expected cash flows to
assets whether the risks and rewards of the asset are substantially different as a result of the contractual
modification. If the risks and rewards do not change, the modified asset is not substantially different from
the original asset and the modification does not result in derecognition. The Group recalculates the gross
carrying amount by discounting the modified contractual cash flows by the original effective interest rate,
and recognises a modification gainorloss in profitorloss.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amountand the sum of the consideration received and receivable isrecognised in the consolidated statement
of profit orloss. In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified asat FVTOCI,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the fair value and other reserves is reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit orloss. In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the fair value and other reserves is not reclassified to consolidated statement
profit orloss, butis transferred to retained earnings.

Afinancialasset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is derecognised where:

The contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assethave expired.
+ The Group retainstheright toreceive cash flows from the asset, buthasassumed an obligation to pay
them in fullwithout material delayto a third party undera ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or
+ The Group hastransferreditsrightsto receive cash flowsfrom the assetand either (a) hastransferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all therrisksand rewards of the asset, buthastransferred control of the asset.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.18 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

All financialliabilities are measured either at FVTPL or atamortised cost usingthe effective interest method.

Financial liabilitiesat FVTPL

Financialliabilitiesat FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains orlosses arising on changesin fair value
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit orloss to the extentthattheyare not part of a designated
hedgingrelationship. The net gain orlossrecognised in the consolidated statement profit or loss incorporates
any interest paid on the financialliability.

However, for financial liabilitiesthat are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of
the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability’s creditrisk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk that are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to
retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Gains orlosses on financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group thatare designated by the Group asat
FVTPL are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit orloss.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financialliabilities, that are not designated asat FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using
the effectiveinterest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financialliability.

Financial guarantee contractliabilities

Afinancial guarantee contractis a contract that requires the issuer to make specified paymentsto reimburse
the holderforaloss itincurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accord ance with
the terms of a debtinstrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated asat
FVTPLand do notarise froma transfer of an asset, are measured subsequently at the higher of:
« The amountofthe loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 (see financial assets above);
and
« The amount recognised initially less, where appropriate, cuamulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policiessetoutabove.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the
end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised
cost of theinstruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the ‘Other (Losses) / Gains
— net’ line item in profit or loss (note 9) for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. For those which are designated as a hedging instrument for a hedge of foreign currency risk
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a
separate component of equity.

The fair value of financialliabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency
and translated atthe spotrate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured
as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair value gains orlosses.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.18 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financialliabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled orhave expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability d erecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in the consolidated statement of profitorloss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit orloss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative
fairvalueis recognised as a financialliability.

3.19 HEDGE ACCOUNTING

The Group may designate certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect ofinterest raterisk as cash
flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.
At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging
instrumentand thehedged item, along withits risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception ofthe hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the
followinghedge effectiveness requirements:

- There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedginginstrument;

- The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic
relationship; and

- The hedgeratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedgeditem that the Group actuallyhedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group
actuallyusestohedgethatquantity ofhedged item.

If a hedgingrelationship ceases to meet the hedge effectivenessrequirement relating to the hedge ratiobut
the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts
the hedgeratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalancesthe hedge) so thatit meetsthe qualifying criteria
again.

3.20 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The bonus sharesand rightsissued during the year are shown as an
additiontotheshare capital. Issue of bonussharesare deducted from the accumulated retained earnings of
the Group. Any share premium on rights issues are accounted for in compliance with local statutory
requirements.

Dividend on ordinary share capital

Dividend distributions to the Group’s shareholders are recognized as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders. Dividends for the year
that are approved after the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements are consideredas an event
afterthe reportingdate.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.21 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is
calculated by dividingthe profit orloss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and
share options granted to employees, ifany.

Where the effect of the assumed conversion of the convertible notes and the exercise of all outstanding options
have an anti-dilutive effect, basicand diluted EPS are stated at the same amount.

3.22 INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average principle, and includes expenditure incurred in
acquiringtheinventories and other costsincurred in bringingthemto their existing location and condition

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred on
completionand disposal.

3.23 PROVISIONS

Provisionsarerecognized whenthe Group hasa presentlegal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event,and it is probable that the Group willbe required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured as
abest estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at thereporting date, and are discounted
to present value where the effectis material.

Decommissioning liability

The Group recognises a decommissioningliability where it has a presentlegal or constructive obligation as
aresult of pastevents,and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation canbe made.

The Group records full provision for the future costs of decommissioning for network and other assets. When
the liability is initially recognised, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalised by increasing the
carrying amount of the related network and other assets to the extent that it was incurred by the
development/ construction.

Changes in the estimated timing or cost of decommissioning are dealt with prospectively by recording an
adjustment to the provisionand a corresponding adjustment to network and other assets. Anyreductionin
the decommissioningliability and, therefore, any deduction from the asset towhich it relates, may not exceed
the carryingamount of that asset. Ifit does, any excess overthe carrying value is taken immediately to the
consolidated statement of profit orloss.

If the change in estimate results in an increase in the decommissioning liability and, therefore, an addition
to the carrying value of the asset, the Group considers whether this is an indication of impairment of the
asset asawhole,and ifso, tests for 1mpalrment If, the estimate for the revised value of network and other
assets net of decommlsswmng provision exceeds the recoverable value, that portion of the increase is
chargeddirectlyto expense.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rate
that reflects current market assessments and the risks specific to the liability. The periodicunwinding of the
discount is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit orloss as a finance cost.

The Group recognises neither the deferred tax asset in respect of the temporary difference on the
decommissioningliability northe corresponding deferred tax liability in respect of the temporary difference
on a decommissioning asset.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.23 PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

End of service benefits

The Group provides end of service benefitsto its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon
the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period,
calculated under the provisions of the Labour Law and is payable upon resignation or termination of the
employee. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued overthe period of employment.

Pensionsand other post-employment benefits

Pension costs under the Group’s defined benefit pension plans are determined by periodic actuarial
calculation using the projected-unit-credit method and applying the assumptions on discount rate, expected
return on plan assets and annual rate of increase in compensation.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods,
discountingthatamountand deductingthefair value of any plan assets.

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method. Whenthe calculationresultsin a potential asset for the Group, the recognised
assetis limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the
plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of economic benefits,
consideration is givento any applicable minimum funding requirements.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return
on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the net interest expense
(income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to
measurethedefined benefitobligation atthe beginningof the annual period to the then-net defined benefit
liability (asset), takinginto account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period
as aresultof contributionsand benefit payments. Netinterest expense and other expensesrelated to defined
benefit plansare recognised in the consolidated statement of profitorloss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that
relates to past service orthe gain orlosson curtailment isrecognised immediatelyin profit orloss. The Group
recognises gainsandlosses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan whenthe settlement occurs.

With respect to the Qatari nationals, the Company makes contributions to Qatar Retirement and Pension
Authorityas a percentage of the employees’ salaries in accordance with the requirements of respective local
laws pertainingto retirement and pensions. The share of contributionsto these schemes, which are defined
contribution schemesunder IAS — 19 Employee Benefits are charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Long-termincentive plan

The Group provideslong termincentive points (the “benefit”) to its employees under thelong term incentive
plan. The entitlement to these benefits is based on employee performance and the overall performance of
the Group, subject to fulfilling certain conditions (“vesting conditions”) under documented plan and is
payable upon end of the vesting period (the “exercise date”). The benefit is linked to the performance of
employeesandthe Group, and the Group proportionately recognises the liability against these benefits over
the vesting period through the consolidated statement of profit or loss, until the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the benefit.

The fair value of the liability is reassessed on each reporting date and any changes in the fair value of the
benefit are recognized through the consolidated statement of profit orloss.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Once the benefit is settled in cash at the exercise date, the liability is derecognised. The amount of cash
settlement is determined based on a number of factors including the number of incentive points awarded,
the Group’soperating performance based on predetermined targets and the Group’s share price performance
over the vesting period. On breach of the vesting conditions, the liability is derecognised through the
consolidated statement of profit orloss.

3.24 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies
are initiallyrecorded by the Group entities at their respective functional currency rate prevailing at the date
of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency spotrate of exchange ruling atthe end of the financial reportingyear.

Non-monetary itemsthat are measuredin terms of historical costin a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange ratesas at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of fair value through other comprehensive income
which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation of foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated to Qatari riyals at exchange ratesat the reporting date. The income and expenses
of foreign operationsare translated to Qatari Riyalsat exchangerates atthe datesofthe transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign
currencytranslation reservein equity. However, if the operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, then the
relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests. When
a foreign operationis disposed of such that control or significant influence is lost, the cumulative amount in
the translationreserve related to that foreign operation s reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit
orloss as part of the gain orloss on disposal.

When the Groupdisposes of only part ofits interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while
retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling
interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate that includes a foreign
operation while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amountis reclassified to consolidated statement of profit orloss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operationis neither planned
norlikely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetaryitem are
considered to form part of anet investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive
income,and presentedin thetranslation reserve in equity.

3.25 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
the greater of its valueinuse and its fair valueless coststo sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment
testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that arelargelyindependent of the cashinflows of other assetsor groups of assets (the “cash-
generatingunit”).

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
estimated recoverable amount. Impairmentlossesare recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amountofany goodwill allocated to the units and thento reduce the carryingamount ofthe other assets in
the unit (group of units) on a prorata basis. Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at
each reportingdate foranyindicationsthattheloss hasdecreased ornolonger exists. An impairmentlossis
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent thatthe asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
beenrecognised.

3.26 SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Financial
information on operating segments is presented in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

3.27 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The consolidated financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the re porting date
and the date when the consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue, provided they give evidence
of conditions thatexisted at the reporting date. Any post year-end events that are non-adjusting events are
discussedin the consolidated financial statements when material.

3.28 ACCOUNTING FOR LEVIES

IFRIC 21 governs the accounting for levies that do not fall within the scope of IAS 12 “Income Taxes”. The
group makes payments to certain regulatory bodies that are based on certain percentages of revenue and
adjusted net profits from regulated activities. Assuch, management has assessed these paymentsto be in the
scope of IFRIC 21, ratherthan IAS 12 and treated these payments as expensesin the statement of profit or
loss.

3.29 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for saleif their carryingamount willbe
recovered principally through a sale transactionratherthan through continuing useand a saleis
considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carryingamount and fairvalueless
costs tosell, exceptforassetssuch asdeferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial
assets and investment propertiesthatare carried at fair value and contractual rights under insurance
contracts, which are specifically exempt from thisrequirement.

Animpairmentloss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group)
tofairvalue lesscosts tosell. A gain is recognised for any subsequentincreasesin fairvalueless costs to
sell ofan asset (ordisposal group), but notin excessof any cumulative impairment loss previously
recognised. A gainorloss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the noncurrent asset (or
disposalgroup) is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-currentassets (includingthose thatare part of a disposal group) are notdepreciated or amortised
while they are classified as held for sale. Interestand other expenses attributable to theliabilities of a
disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

Assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented
separately from the otherassets in thebalance sheet. Theliabilities of a disposal group classified as held for
sale are presented separately from otherliabilitiesin the balance sheet.
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4. REVENUE

The Group derivesits revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of goods and services over time
and at a point in time in the following revenue streams. The disclosure of revenue by streams is consistent
with therevenue information that is disclosed for each reportable segment under IFRS 8 (seenote 43).

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Revenue from rendering of services 28,405,651 27,403,213
Sale of telecommunication equipment 1,385,124 1,271,023
Equipmentrental revenue 108,967 192,329
29,899.742 28,866,565
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
At apointintime 1,385,124 1,271,023
Overtime 28,514,618 27,595,542
29,899,742 28,866,565
5.  OTHER INCOME
2021 2020*
QR.’000 QR.’000
Dividend income 50,305 68,501
Re?ntalincome' ' 45,757 31,775
Miscellaneous income (i) 398,842 357,750
494,904 458,026
* Refertonote 48 for detailsregarding certain reclassifications.
(i) Miscellaneous income consists of various individually insignificant amounts.
6. NETWORK, INTERCONNECT AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
2021 2020*
QR.’000 QR.’000
Outpayments and interconnect charges 2,508,947 2,189,702
Regulatory and related fees 2,501,557 2,488,716
Rentals and utilities 1,347,513 1,272,679
Network operationand maintenance 2,292,626 2,384,454
Cost of equipment sold and other services 2,577,267 2,620,389
Marketing costsand sponsorship 731,009 708,591
Commissionon cards 655,214 693,455
Legal and professional fees 214,637 175,268
Otherexpenses 656,169 619,114
Provision for obsolete and slow-movinginventories 1,450 42,013
13,486,389 13,194,381

* Refertonote 48 fordetailsregarding certain reclassifications.
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7. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Depreciation of property, plantand equipment 5,309,905 5,513,189
Depreciation of investment properties 13,196 11,426
Amortisationof intangible assets 1,455,566 1,503,210
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 1,195,776 1,217,635
7,974,443 8,245,460
8. FINANCE COSTS AND FINANCE INCOME
2021 2020%*
QR.’000 QR.’000
Finance costs
Interest on loansand borrowings 1,165,112 1,412,699
Profit paid on Islamicfinancing obligations 39,068 48,808
Amortisation of deferred financing costs (Note 28) 44,274 41,398
Interest on leaseliabilities 638,639 541,159
Otherfinance costs 107,271 105,621
Total finance cost 1,994,364 2,149,685
Financeincome
Interest income (190,055) (254,109)
Total financeincome (190,055) (254,109)
* Refertonote 48 for detailsregarding certain reclassifications.
9.1 GAIN ON SALE OF TOWERS
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Gain on sale of towers 1,566,903 -
1’5669903 -

On 30 March 2021, Indosat Ooredoo (seller-lessee) entered into a Sales and Purchase agreement for the sale
of 4,247 telecommunication towers with net carrying value amounted to QR. 0.34 billion to PT EPID Menara
AssetCo, (buyer-lessor) ultimately owned by Digital Colony with net consideration of QR. 2.61 billion
resultingin gainamountingto QR 1.57billion. Furthermore, each party also entered into a lease agreement
for one space each of 4,085 telecommunication towers fora 10 year period starting from the closing date of
the transactions. On 18 May 2021, the Indosat Ooredoo and EPID closed the deal on the sale and leaseback

transactions.

Significantjudgment has beenapplied by managementin assuming a 10-year lease term for the leased back
assets. The management will continue to re-assess extension options and termination options only when a
significant event or changein circumstances occurs that is withinthe control of Indosat Ooredoo.

9.2 OTHER (LOSSES)/ GAINS — NET

2021 2020*
QR.’o000 QR.’000
Foreign currency (loss) / gains net (835,273) 137,396
Changein fairvalue of derivatives — net 3,597 (22,374)
Gain / (loss) on investmentsin securities FVTPL 18,040 10,733
Gain / (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets 115,135 142,789
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary (i) 250,544 -
Othermiscellaneous expenses (267,612) (255,955)
(715,569) 12,589

* Refertonote 48 fordetailsregarding certain reclassifications.

(i) Refertonote 37 for detailsregarding the de-consolidation of IM2.
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10. ROYALTIES AND FEES

2021 2020

QOR.’000 QR.’000

Royaltyandindustryfees (i), (ii) 532,465 381,224
Otherstatutoryfees (iii) 5,601 4,452
538,066 385,676

). Royaltyispayable to the Government of the Sultanate of Omanbased on 12% of the net of predefined
sources of revenue and interconnection expenses tolocal operators for mobile license and 7% for fixed license
which is accounted forunder IFRIC 21 QR. 218,335 (2020: QR. 235,401).

(ii).  In accordance with its operating licenses for Public Telecommunications Networks and Services
granted in Qatar by ictQATAR, now referred to as the Communications Regulatory Authority (CRA), the
Companyisliableto paytothe CRA anannual industry fee whichis calculated at 12.5% of adjusted net profit
onregulated activities undertaken in Qatar pursuant to the licenses which is accounted forunder IFRIC 21

QR. 314,130 (2020: QR. 145,823).

(iii). ContributionsbyNational Mobile Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. to Kuwait Foundation for
the Advancement of Sciences (“KFAS”), National Labour Support Tax (“NLST”) and Zakat are included
under other statutory fees.

Other regulatory and related fees are presented in note 6 which are calculated based on revenue from
regulated activities.
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11.  BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basicearnings pershareis calculated by dividing the earnings for the period attributable tothe shareholders
of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

There were no potentially dilutive shares outstanding at any time during the year and, therefore, the dilutive
earnings per shareis equalto thebasic earnings pershare.

2021 2020

’000 000
Profit forthe yearattributable to shareholders of the parent (QR.) 46,918 1,126,475
Weighted average number of shares 3,203,200 3,203,200
Basic and diluted earnings pershare (QR.) 0.01 0.35
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Subscriber
Exchange and apparatus
Land and networks and other  Capital work
buildings assets equipment in progress Total
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
Cost
At 1 January 2020 6,980,918 61,251,303 7,740,453 3,359,216 79,331,890
Additions 42,741 938,878 74,532 4,570,792 5,626,943
Transfers 203,288 3,949,779 473,639 (4,626,706) -
Disposals (33,098) (1,267,586) (420,256) (4,088) (1,725,028)
Reclassification 90,461 (40,912) (107) (226,534) (177,092)
Exchange adjustment (161,780) (1,794,979) (24,734) (64,806)  (2,046,299)
At 31 December 2020 7,122,530 63,036,483 7,843,527 3,007,874 81,010,414
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (18,757) (252,522) (68,931) (1,055) (341,265)
Additions 12,869 1,132,464 133,488 3,457,599 4,736,420
Transfers 221,921 3,371,553 416,645 (4,010,119) -
Disposals (400,955) (551,747) (110,341) - (1,063,043)
Reclassification (165,878) 58,594 (58,594) (126,152) (292,030)
Assets classified for sale (3,782,714)  (26,444,115)  (2,518,718) (292,681)(33,038,228)
Exchange adjustment (128,262)  (1,968,752) (329,667) (65,585) (2,492,266)
At 31 December 2021 2,860,754 38,381,958 5,307,409 1,969,881 48,520,002
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2020 4,081,035 41,947,267 6,258,549 - 52,286,851
Impairment during the year 95,084 - - - 95,084
Provided during the year 328,241 4,490,105 694,843 - 5,513,189
Disposals (32,776) (1,075,598) (415,673) - (1,524,047)
Reclassification 43,317 (1,683) 1,770 - 43,40
Exchange adjustment (39,301) (1,461,715) (23,154) - (1,524,170)
At 31 December 2020 4,475,600 43,898,376 6,516,335 - 54,890,311
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (15,734) (141,264) (68,556) - (225,554)
Provided during the year 329,604 4,387,813 592,488 - 5,309,905
Impairment during the year (i) 913 723,541 9,085 - 733,539
Disposals (274,249) (474,765) (99,491) - (848,505)
Reclassification (65,303) 32,632 (32,632) - (65,303)
Assets classified for sale (2,878,2902) (19,491,166) (2,107,772) - (24,477,230)
Exchange adjustment (93,365)  (1,276,263) (296,197) - (1,665,825)
At 31 December 2021 1,479,174 27,658,904 4,513,260 - 33,651,338
Carrying value
At 31 December 2021 1,381,580 10,723,054 794,149 1,969,881 14,868,664
At 31 December 2020 2,646,930 19,138,107 1,327,192 3,007,874 26,120,103

(i) Details about the key assumptions and the calculation of the impairment related to Myanmar are provided

in note 26.

(ii) Certain property, plant and equipment amounting to QR nil (2020: 84,209 thousand) are used as
collateralto secure the Group’sborrowings.

(iii) Refertonote 9.1 for detailsregarding the sale of towersduring the year.
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, GOODWILL AND LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS

Customer
contracts and
related Softwareand
Licence customer other
costs Goodwill relationship Tradenames intangibles Total

QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
Cost
At 1January2020 30,240,617 9,300,990 630,636 2,614,641 3,931,039 46,717,923
Additions 1,437,254 - - - 163,445 1,600,699
Disposals - . - - (21,861) (21,861)
Reclassification - - - - 226,641 226,641
Exchange adjustment (586,995) 12,601 (4,455) (56,176) (53,078) (688,103)
At 31 December 2020 31,090,876 9,313,591 626,181 2,558,465 4,246,186 47,835,299
A('lditiOHS 299,009 = - - 108,714 407,723
Disposals - - - - (9,390) (9,390)
Reclassification - - = - 118,183 118,183
Assetsclassifiedas heldfor sale (3,583,817)  (3,310,024) (501,190) (1,620,348) (367,535) (9,382,914)
Exchange adjustment (1,498,602) (198,015) (17,269) (44,145) (149,606) (1,907,637)
At 31 December 2021 26,307,466 5,805,552 107,722 893,972 3,946,552 37,061,264
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, GOODWILL AND LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Customer
contracts and
related Software and
License customer Brand/ other
costs Goodwill relationship Tradenames intangibles Total
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
Accumulated amortisation and
impairmentlosses
At 1January2020 14,801,096 562,928 630,636 1,668,343 2,735,033 20,398,036
Amortisation 1,086,755 - - 81,921 334,534 1,503,210
Impairment (i) - 312,100 - - - 312,100
Disposals - - - - (21,692) (21,692)
Reclassification - - - - 423 423
Exchange adjustment (727,982) 5,987 (4,455) (42,234) (43,032) (811,716)
At 31 December 2020 15,159,869 881,015 626,181 1,708,030 3,005,266 21,380,361
Amortisation 1,044,497 = = 80,076 330,993 1,455,566
Impairment (i) 1,085,698 - - - - 1,085,698
Disposals - - - - (8,613) (8,613)
Reclassification = = - - (2,899) (2,899)
Assetsclassified as held forsale (1,996,721) (237,834) (501,190) (879,693) (290,423) (3,905,861)
Exchange adjustment (842,143) (13,117) (17,269) (24,746) (134,135) (1,031,410)
At 31 December 2021 14,451,200 630,064 107,722 883,667 2,900,189 18,972,842
Carrying value
At 31 December 2021 11,856,266 5,175,488 - 10,305 1,046,363 18,088,422
At 31 December 2020 15,931,007 8,432,576 - 850,435 1,240,920 26,454,938
@) Details about the key assumptions and the calculation of the impairment related to Myanmar are provided in note 26
(i) Long term prepayments relate to payments in advance for service arrangements which generally have a terms of 15 years.
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, GOODWILL AND LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
i. Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to individual cash generating units
(CGUs) forimpairment testing as follows:

Carrying Carrying
value value
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Cash generatingunits
Ooredoo Kuwait 588,438 585,284
Ooredoo Algeria 1,815,044 1,804,919
Ooredoo Tunisia 2,441,712 2,564,911
IndosatOoredoo * - 3,144,443
Others 330,294 333,019

5,175,488 8,432,576

* Refertonote 46 forthe details of the assets classified as held forsale.

Goodwill was tested for impairment as at 31 December 2021. The recoverable amount of the CGUs was
determined based on value in use calculated using cash flows projections by management covering a period
of five years.

During the year, the Group has recorded an impairment loss against the Myanmar CGU since their
recoverable amount was lower than their carrying value.

ii. KeyAssumptionsusedinvalueinusecalculations

Key Assumptions

The principal assumptions used to determine value-in-use include long-term cash flows, discount rates,
terminal value growth rate estimates, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization
(“EBITDA”) growth rate and CAPEX. The assumptions are constructed based upon historic experience and
management’s best estimate of future trends and performance and take into account anticipated efficiency
improvementsoverthe forecasted period.

Discount rates

Discount ratesreflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to each CGU. Discount rates are based on
a weighted average cost of capital for each CGU and ranged from 7.3% to 22.1% (2020: 7.6% to 17%). In
determiningthe appropriate discount rates for each CGU, theyieldlocal market ten-year government bond
is used, where available.

Terminal value growthrate

The business plans take into accountlocal market considerations such asthe revenues and costs associated
with future customer growth, theimpact oflocal market competition and consideration of the local macro-
economic and political trading environment. The growth rate does not exceed the average long-term growth
rate forthe relevant marketsandit ranges from 3.5%t0 5.7%% (2020: 3.4%t07.5%).

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation,and Amortization

The cash flow forecasts for budgeted EBITDA are derived from revenue, and the related cost of sales and
operating expenses. The forecasts are mainly based on past experience and management’s best estimate of
future trends in the market including number of customers, penetrations, average revenue per users, new
products and services.
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, GOODWILL AND LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

iii. Key Assumptions usedin valuein use calculations (continued)

Budgeted Capex

The cash flow forecasts for budgeted capital expenditure are based on past experience and include the
ongoing capital expenditure required to continue rolling out networks in emerging markets, providing
enhanced voice and data products and services, and meeting the population coverage re quirements of certain
licenses of the Group. Capital expenditure indudes cash outflows for the purchase of property, plant and
equipment and otherintangible assets.

Long-term cash flows and working capital estimates
The Group prepares cash flow forecasts forthe next five years, derived from the most recent annual business
plan approved by the Board of Directors.

At 31 December 2021, the discount rate used for Ooredoo Algeria was 13.85% (2020: 13.94%) and the
terminal growthratewas 5.7% (2020: 5.3%). Management considers that changes to the discount rate and
the terminal growth rate could cause the carrying value of the following CGUs to exceed their recoverable
amount. If the discount rate is increased by 1.5% (2020: nil) or if the terminal growth rate is decreased by
2.1% (2020: nil) with all other variables held constant, the recoverable amount would equal the carrying
value.

At 31 December 2021, the discount rate used for Ooredoo Tunisiawas 12.42% (2020: 11.6%) and the terminal
growth ratewas 5% (2020: 5.4%). Management considers that changesto the discount rate and the terminal
growth rate could cause the carrying value of the following CGUs to exceed their recoverable amount. If the
discount rateisincreased by 1.8% (2020: 2.4%) orif the terminal growth rateis decreased by 2.4% (2020:
3.2) with all othervariablesheld constant, the recoverable amount would equal the carrying value.

The calculation of the recoverable amount of the remaining CGUs include high headroom and management
has assessed that any reasonable possible change in key assumptions in relation to these CGUs would not
result in animpairmentloss.

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Right-of-use assets
Exchange Subscriber
and apparatus Indefeasible
Landand network andother rights-of-
buildings assets  equipment use(IRU) Total
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

Cost

At1January2020 3,623,179 4,625,607 231,923 74,087 8,554,796

Additions 1,111,984 707,432 25,568 13,571 1,858,555

Reductionon earlytermination (60,087) (35,978) (3,340) (1,632) (101,037)
Reclassification (90,461) 40,912 - - (49,549)
Exchange adjustment (21,836) 129,260 (2,747) 3,778 108,455

At 31 December 2020 4,562,779 5,467,233 251,404 89,804 10,371,220

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (8,465) (3,589) (4,687) = (16,741)

Additions 633,383 1,214,388 51,571 - 1,899,342

Reductionon early termination (23,145) (130,753) (4,187) = (158,085)
Disposal during theyear (326,584) = = = (326,584)
Reclassification (42,967) 7,969 = = (34,998)
Assetsclassified as held-for-sale  (3,912,498)  (1,173,526)  (187,366) - (5,273,390)
Exchange adjustment (131,154) (572,443) (7,210) (4,761) (715,568)
At 31 December 2021 751,349 4,809,279 99,525 85,043 5,745,196
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14. RIGHT-OF-USEASSETS (CONTINUED)
Right-of-use assets
Exchange Subscriber
and apparatus Indefeasible
Landand network andother rights-of-
buildings assets equipment wuse(IRU) Total
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

Accumulated amortisation
At1January 2020 1,485,723 859,884 149,173 26,168 2,520,948
Provided during the year 521,795 638,049 46,364 11,427 1,217,635
Reductionon early termination (36,656) (7,229) (3,043) (1,633) (48,561)
Reclassification

(43,827) - - - (43,827)
Exchange adjustment 8,776 4,890 (499) 1,505 14,672
At 31 December 2020 1,935,811 1,495,594 191,995 37,467 3,660,867
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (1,618) (3,021) (4,666) - (9,305)
Provided during theyear 494,919 633,068 55,606 12,183 1,195,776
Impairmentduring theyear (i) - 581,227 - - 581,227
Reductionon early termination (9,813) (22,656) (2,203) - (34,672)
Disposal during the year (109,482) - - - (109,482)
Reclassification - 2,899 - - 2,899
Assetsclassified as held-for-sale

(1,779,376
) (262,575) (180,380) - (2,222,331)

Exchange adjustment (50,776) (122,168) (5,365) (2,129) (180,438)
At 31 December 2021 479,665 2,302,368 54,987 47,521 2,884,541
Carrying value
At 31 December 2021 271,684 2,506,911 44,538 37,522 2,860,655
At 31 December 2020 2,626,968 3,971,639 59,409 52,337 6,710,353

Following the election of the Group not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term
and low-valueleases, QR. 438,065 thousand (2020: QR. 381,083 thousand) and QR. 2,975 thousand (2020:
QR. 2,463 thousand), respectively, were recognized as expenses during the year. Moreover, variable lease
payments which were recognized as expenses during 2021 amounted to QR. 18,884 thousand (2020: 4,397

thousand).

(i) Details about the key assumptions and the calculation of the impairment related to Myanmar are provided

in note 26
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Cost
At1January 170,593 170,593
Transfer from property, plantand equipment 208,845 -
Transfer from other-non current assets 13,849 -
Related to heldforsale (56,816) -
At 31 December 336,471 170,593
Accumulated depreciation
At1January 124,012 112,586
Transfer from property, plantand equipment 65,303 -
Provided during theyear 13,196 11,426
At 31 December 202,511 124,012
Carrying value At 31 December 133,960 46,581

Investment properties comprise the portion of the Group’s headquarters building rented to a related
party,in additionto properties not occupied by the Group and currently held for undetermined use.

There was a valuation exercise performed by an external valuer, independent valuers not connected with
the Group. The valuation conforms to International Valuation Standards. Management believe that the
fairvalue investment propertyis approximately QR. 362,050thousand (2020: QR. 224,162 thousand),
which is higherthan the carryingvalue at reporting dates. The fair value was determined based on the
market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties/ other
methods. Thefairvalue hierarchy for valuation of investment property is categorized underlevel 2.

The property rental income earned by the Group from its investment properties, all of which is leased
out underoperatingleases,amounted to QR. 45,757thousand (2020: QR. 31,775thousand).
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16. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group hasthefollowinginvestmentin associatesandjoint ventures:

Associate/ Joint Countryof  Effective
Venture companies Principal activity Classification incorporation ownership
2021 2020
Navlink, Inc.,a Delaware Managed Service Provider Associate United Statesof  40% 38%
Corporation delivering technology America
solutionsin the enterprise
datamarket
Asia Mobile Holdings Pte Holding company Associate Singapore 25% 25%
Ltd (“"AMH”)
PT Multi Media Asia Satellite based Associate Indonesia 17% 17%
Indonesia telecommunication services
MEEZA QSTP LLC Information technology Associate Qatar 20% 20%
services
Titan Bull Holdings Holding Company Associate Cayman Islands 18% 18%
Limited
Monetix SPA Electronic Banking Associate Algeria 19% 19%
SBISAT Fund, L.P. Investment Management  Associate Cayman Islands 28% 28%
Mountain Indosat Business Incubation and Associate Hong Kong - 29%
CompanyLtd (“MCL”)  Digital Services
PT Satera Manajemen  Telecommunication Services Associate Indonesia - 32%
PersadaIndonesia and Equipment Provider
Asia Internet Holding S.a Holding Company Jointventure  Luxembourg 50% 50%
r.l.,
Intaleq Technology Technical servicesfor Sports Jointventure  Qatar 55% 55%
Consulting& Services  venues and events
W.L.L
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16. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

The followingtable isthe summarised financial information of the Group’s investments in the associates and
joint ventures:

Joint Joint
Associates ventures Total Associates  ventures Total
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR. 000 QR. 000 QR. 000
Group’s share of associates and
joint ventures statement of financial

position:

Current assets 1,243,843 68,510 1,312,353 986,498 30,845 1,017,343
Non-currentassets 2,421,141 19,646 2,440,787 2,505,048 36,474 2,631,522
Current liabilities (752,364)  (24,297)  (776,661) (573,044) (3.534) (576,578)
Non-currentliabilities (2,233,641) (4,755) (2,238,396) (2,293,955) - (2,293,955)
Net assets 678,979 59,104 738,083 714,547 63,785 778,332
Goodwill 908,071 - 908,071 917,175 - 917,175
Carrying amount of the

investments 1,587,050 59,104 1,646,154 1,631,722 63,785 1,695,507

Group’s share of associates’ and
joint ventures’ revenues and

results:
Revenues 1,497,752 - 1,497,752 1,128,522 45 1,128,567
Profit/(loss) fortheyear 62,141 18,321 80,462 56,144 (20,868) 35,276

In 2021, the Group received dividends from associates amountingto QR. 18,854 thousand (2020: QR. 64,186
thousand). No other significant movements during the year other than the dividends and the share of results.

16.1. The significant balance of investment in associates relatesto Asia Mobile Holdings Pte Ltd. (“AMH”).
During the year, management has performed impairment assessment of AMH based on the indicatorsand
currently available information. The Group has applied a value-in-use approach to determine the
recoverable amount of the investmentin AMH and noimpairment was noted. The Group hasused WACC of
6.98% and terminal growth rate of 3.5% in their business model. Management has incorporated their
effective share in AMH, based on the estimated unaudited financial information of AMH, in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Although the Group holds less than 20 per cent effective holding of equity shares of certain entities, the
Group exercises significant influence by virtue of its contractual right to appoint directors to the board of
directorsofthatentity.

17.  FINANCIAL ASSETS — EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000
Investmentin equityinstrument designated at FVTOCI 682,195 703,178
Financial assetsmeasured at FVTPL 3,883 85,829
686,078 789,007

The Group’sfinancial assets comprise of investmentin a telecommunication related company with fair value
of QR. 422,242 (2020: QR. 488,611), investment in venture capital funds and other private equity funds.The
investment in hedge fundsis accounted for at fair value through the statement of profit orloss (FVTPL).

Investments accounted for at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). The Group has
elected to designate theseinvestmentsin equity instrumentsas at FVTOCI as these investments are held for
mediumtolong-term strategic purposes and notheld for trading.

Refertonote 39forrelated fair value information.

Financial assets measured at FVTPL amounting to QR 96.7 million have been reclassified as held for sale.
Refertonote 46 fordetails.
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18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000
Long term advances and deposits 61,993 640,987
Long-term prepayments 72,313 29,467
Contract assets — net of impairment allowances 43,335 37,399
Others 7,103 69,889
184,744 777,742

(i) Mainly relates to long-term advances or deposits made in respect of property, plant and equipment.

(ii) Long term prepayments mainly relate to payments in advance for service arrangements which have
terms ranging from5to 15 years.

19. INCOME TAX

The income taxrepresents amounts recognised by the subsidiaries. The major components of the income tax
expense forthe yearincluded in the consolidated statement of profitorloss are as follows:

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000
Currentincome tax
Current income tax charge 604,007 359,616
Adjustmentsin respect of previousyears’ income tax (30,742) (117,802)
Deferred income tax
Relatingto origination and reversal of temporary differences 53,432 (38,715)
Incometax included in the consolidated statement of
profitorloss 626,697 203,099

The Company is not subject to income tax in the State of Qatar. The tax rate applicable to the taxable
subsidiaries Companies and a joint venture Companyis in the range 0f10% to 37% (2020:10% to 37%). For
the purpose of determining the taxable results for the year, the accounting profit of the companies were
adjusted fortax purposes. Adjustmentsfortax purposesincludeitemsrelatingto bothincome and expense.

The adjustments are based on the current understanding of the existing laws, regulations and practices of
each subsidiaries’ jurisdiction. In view of the operations of the Group being subject tovarious tax jurisdictions
and regulations, it is not practical to provide a detailed reconciliation between accounting and taxable profits
together with the details of the effective taxrates. As a result, the reconciliationincludes only the identifiable
major reconciling items. The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit
multiplied by the Group’s effective tax rate is asfollows:

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000
Profitbefore tax 1,679,317 1,625,029
The Companyanditssubsidiariesthat are notsubject to corporate
income tax (1,588,037) (559.458)
Accounting profit of subsidiaries and associates thatare subjectto
corporateincometax 91,280 1,065,571
Tax chargebased on the effectiveincome taxrate of 15% (2020: 18%) 13,822 192,456
Add/(deduct):
Tax effect of Expensesandincome thatare not subjectto tax (34,895) (24,053)
Tax effect of Income already subject to final tax 23,698 79,939
Tax effect of temporary differences from subsidiaries with lossesthat
the Group currently does notexpecttouse 547,434 99,302
Tax effect of temporary difference duetoleases 7,123 5,659
Tax effect of Allowances, accrualsand other temporary difference 16,986 (23,380)
Tax effect of Depreciation - net 29,839 32,605
Tax effect of Unutilised taxlosses brought forward - (2,912)
Currentincometax charge at the effectiveincome tax rate of
15% (2020:18% ) 604,007 359,616
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19. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Consolidated statementof  Consolidated statement of

Jinancial position profit
2021 2020 2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
Accelerated depreciation fortax
purposes 131,469 84,724 46,636 20,627
Losses available to offsetagainst
future taxable income 65,123 224,929 (148,701) (3,533)
Allowances, accrualsand other
temporary differences 239,559 245,345 (25,438) 9,687
Deferred taxoriginationon
purcha_se prﬁ;e allocation (262,786) (293,027) 23,433 23,016
Leaseliabilities 95,742 79,695 50,638 (11,082)
Assetsheldforsale 96,444 i - -
Deferred tax (expense) /
mcome e - - (53.432) 38,715
Deferred tax asset/liability 365,551 341,666 - -
Reconciliation of deferred tax assets:
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
At1January 643,104 658,851
Deferred taxincome duringtheyear (84,419) 2,649
Deferred taxon other comprehensiveincome (297) 8,830
Related to assetsheld forsale (171,518) -
Exchange adjustment (21,319) (27,226)
At 31 December 365,551 643,104
Reconciliation of deferred taxliability:
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
At1January 301,438 340,468
Deferredtaxincome duringtheyear (30,987) (36,066)
Deferred taxon other comprehensiveincome 3,707 (1,424)
Relatedto assetsheldforsale (267,962) -
Exchange adjustment (6,196) (1,540)
At 31 December - 301,438
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20. ConTRACT COSTS

2021 2020*
QR.’000 QR.’000
Current 181,287 196,958
Non-Current 111,897 151,431
293,184 348,389
* Refertonote 48 fordetailsregarding certain reclassifications.
21. INVENTORIES
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Subscribers’equipment 165,485 248,013
Otherequipment 237,014 218,327
Cablesand transmission equipment 81,580 71,977
N o . 484,079 538,317
Less: Provision for obsolete and slowmoving inventories (119,085) (140,515)
364,994 397.802

Inventories consumed are recognised as expense and included under operating expenses. These amounted to

QR. 1,823,791 thousand (2020: QR. 1,639,355 thousand).

Movementin the provisionfor obsolete and slowmovinginventoriesis as follows:

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Ati1January 140,515 136,799
Provided during the year 1,450 42,013
Amountswritten off (13,098) (31,300)
Relatedto assetsheld forsale (3,899) -
Exchange adjustment (5,883) (6,997)
At 31 December 119,085 140,515
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020%
QR.’000 QR.’000
Trade receivables — net ofimpairment allowances 2,469,067 2,785,952
Otherreceivables — net of impairment allowances and
prepayments 1,583,953 3,590,069
Unbilled subscriber revenue — net of impairment allowances 675,186 736,542
Contract assets —net ofimpairment allowances 122,660 170,251
Amountsduefrom international carriers —net of impairment 449,899 500,184
allowances
Net prepaid pension costs - 115
5,300,765 7,783,113

* Refertonote 48 fordetailsregarding certain reclassifications.

At 31 December 2021, trade receivables amountingto QR. 1,378,365 thousand (2020: QR. 1,977,434 thousand)
were impaired and fully provided for.

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivablesbased on the Group’s provision matrix. Asthe
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
betweenthe Group’sremainingdifferent customerbase.

Tradereceivables — days pastdue
30—-60 60-90
31 December 2021 <3odays days days 90-365days >365days Total
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

Expected creditlossrate 3% 8% 14% 30% 65% 36%
Gross carrying amount at 955,011 333,827 183,126 698,139 1,677,329 3,847,432
default

Lifetime ECL (33,297) (25,617) (25,554)  (208,781) (1,085,116) (1,378,365)
Carrying amount 921,714 308,210 157,572 489,358 592,213 2,469,067

Trade receivables —days past due
30 — 60 60-90
31 December 2020 <3o0days days days 90-365days > 365 days Total
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

Expected creditlossrate 5% 9% 18% 32% 70% 42%
Gross carrying amount at 1,112,416 354,864 184,833 864,354 2,246,919 4,763,386
default

Lifetime ECL (53,477)  (33,002)  (34,154) (274,418)  (1,582,383)  (1,977,434)
Carrying amount 1,058,939 321,862 150,679 589,936 664,536 2,785,952

Details about the Group’simpairment policies and the calculation of the loss allowance are provided in note
38.

62



Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Notesto the consolidated financial statements
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

23. CaAsH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following items:

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000
Bankbalancesand cash—net ofimpairmentallowance (i, ii) 11,670,454 15,678,488
Less:
Deposits with maturity of more than three months (iii) (313,000) (132,953)
Restricted deposits (iv) (681,231) (936,052)
Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated statement of cash
flows at 31 December (v) 10,676,223 14,609,483
Add: cashand cashequivalents from assets held forsale 968,087 -
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 11,644,310 14,609,483

(i) Bank balances and cash include deposits maturing after three months amounting to QR. 3,120,000
thousand (2020: QR. 3,381,000thousand). The Groupis of the opinion that these deposits are readily
convertibleto cash and are held to meet short-term commitments

(ii)) Depositsare madeforvaryingperiodsdependingon theimmediate cash requirements of the Group and
earn intereston therespective depositratesrangingfrom 0.19% t07.29% (2020:0.06% t0 12.31%).

(iii) Depositswith maturity of more than three months were reclassified from bank balancesand cash.

(iv) Therestricted depositsprimarily pertainto dividend payments, issuance of bank guarantees, related to
a regulatory disputes and various other purposes (which are not considered individually significant).
These restricted deposits are subject to regulatory and/or other restrictions and are therefore not
available for general use by the Group.

(v) Certain cash and cashequivalentsare used ascollaterals to secure the Group’s obligations.

Non-cashtransaction
During theyear, the non-cashadditionsto intangible assets amounted to QR. 260,226 thousand.

Balances with banks are assessed to have low credit risk of default since these banks are highly regulated by
the central banks of the respective countries.

The Group estimates the loss allowance on balances with banks at the end of the reporting period at an
amountequal to 12-month ECL. None of the balanceswithbanksat theend of the reporting period are past
due and taking into account the historical default experience and the current credit ratings of the banks, the
Group has recorded an impairment loss of QR. 32,170 thousand during the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: QR. 40,921 thousand). Details about the Group’s impairment policiesand the calculation of the loss
allowance are provided in note 38.
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24. SHARECAPITAL

2021 2020
No of shares QR.’000 Noofshares QR.’000
('oo0) (000)
Authorised
Ordinary shares of QR 1*each
At 31 December 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid up
Ordinary shares of QR 1*each
At 31 December 3.203.200 3.203.200 3,203,200 3,203,200

25. RESERVES

a) Legal reserve

In accordance with Qatar Commercial Companies Law No. 11 of 2015 and the Company’s Articles of
Association, 10% of the profit of the Company for the year should be transferred to the legal reserve until such
reservesreach 50% oftheissued share capital. During 2008, an amount of QR. 5,494,137thousand, being the
net share premium amount arising out of the rights issue, was transferred to legal reserve. During 2012, an
amountof QR. 5,940,145 thousand, being the net share premium amount arising out of the rightsissue, was
transferred tolegal reserve.

The reserve is not available for distribution except in the circumstances stipulated in the Qatar Commercial
Companies Lawand the Company’s Articles of Association.

b) Fair value and other reserves
The fair value and other reserves comprise the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets -
equityinstruments at FVTOCI and effective portion of qualifying cash flow hedges.

The movementin fair value reserve of financial assets - equity instruments at FVTOCI was as follows:

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000

Fairvaluereserve of available for sale investments 430,111 451,101
Cash flow hedge reserve (36,658) (40,176)
At 31 December 393,453 410,925

c) Employees’ benefits reserve
Employment benefits reserve is created on account of adoption of revised IAS — 19 Employee benefits.
Employee benefits reserve comprises actuarial gains (losses) pertainingto defined benefit plans.

d) Translationreserve
The translationreserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

Effective 1 September 2021, the Group regardsits loans and accrued interest receivable from one of its
subsidiaries as an extension of its net investment. Consequently, exchange differences arising on the re-
translation of these balances are recognised in other comprehensive income in the consolidated financial
informationas ofthatdate.

e) Other statutoryreserves
In accordance with the statutory regulations of the various subsidiaries, a share of their respective annual
profits should betransferred to a non-distributable statutory reserve.
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26. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON GOODWILL AND OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000

Impairmentlosson Ooredoo Myanmar (i) 2,252,124 -
Other 148,340 407,184
Total 2,400,464 407,184

(i) Asat 30June 2021,and as aresultof the ongoing political situation, the Group assessed itsinvestment in
Ooredoo Myanmar by comparing the recoverable amount (based on value in use calculations computed using
cash flow projections)to the carrying value of the cash generating unit. The computations indicated that the
recoverableamount of the investmentis lessthan itscarryingvalueand as a result an impairment charge of
QR 2,252.1 million has beenreflected in the consolidated statement of profit orloss. Theimpairment lossis
split as follows:

2021

QR.’000
Property, plantand equipment 585,199
Intangible assets 1,085,698
Right-of-use assets 581,227

Total 2,252,124

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has revised and recently approved updated cashflow projections taking
into account the significant uncertainty that continue to exist aswell as the challenging operating conditions
and revenue growth prospects in the market. At year-end, the discount rate used is 22.1% (30 June 2021:
21.6%, and 31 December 2020: 17%)to reflect the risk in the country together with a reductionin the terminal
growth rate to 5.0% (30 June 2021: 5.8%, and 31 December 2020: 7.5%) in line with current published
forecasts. The revised assessment did not give rise to any further impairment as at 31 December 2021. The
situationis fluid and is beingkept under review by management.

Sensitivity analysis:

At 30 June 2021, if the discount rate used had been higher/lower by 0.5% with all other variables held
constant, the impairment charge would have been QR. 82 million higher/QR. 88 millionlower.

27. DEFERRED INCOME
Deferred income pertains to unearned revenue from services that will be provided in future periods. It

primarilyincdudes revenue from the unused and unutilized portion of prepaid cards sold. The sale of prepaid
cards is deferred until suchtime as the customer usesthe airtime, orthe creditexpires.
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28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Presentedin the consolidated statement of financial positionas:

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000
Non-currentliabilities
Securedloan 29,725 58,415
Unsecured loan 3,582,559 9,922,241
Islamic Finance - 396,708
Bonds 15,476,381 14,065,021
Less: Deferred financing costs (145,178) (116,871)
Total non currentliabilities 18,943,487 24,325,514
Currentliabilities
Securedloan 48,844 53,713
Unsecured loan 626,336 1,071,065
Islamic Finance - 31,381
Bonds - 4,063,575
Total currentliabilities 675,180 5,219,734
Less: Deferred financing costs (32,572) (30,451)
Interest payable 182,360 275,424
Profit payable on islamic financing obligation - 4,594
Total current 824,968 5,469,301
Total loans and borrowings 19,768,455 29,794,815

The deferred financing costs consist of arrangement and other related fees. Movement in deferred financing

costs wasas follows:
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
At1January 147,322 184,973
Additionsduring theyear ~8,396 3,614
Amortised during the year (Note 8) (44,274) (41,398)
Related toliabilityheld forsale (4,163) )
Exchange adjustment 469 133
At 31 December 177,750 147,322
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28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Nominal
Interest/ Profit Year of
Type Currency rate maturity 2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Bonds IDR 7.40%1t011.20% Mar 20 toJul 29 - 2,652,215
Bonds USD 3.25%1t05.00% Feb21toJan43 15,476,381 15,476,381
Islamic Finance
Obligation IDR 8.00t011.20% Jun2o0todJul29 - 428,089
Secured Loans LIBOR +3.00%to
USD 6.25% Jan20toFeb 23 78,569 112,128
Unsecured Loans IDR 2%t08.95%  Dec21toFeb24 - 1,111,684
Unsecured Loans CBK+ 0.60% -
KWD 0.65% May 21toNov 22 - 143,640
Unsecured Loans MMK 9% t012% Mar 20 toJul 21 - 202,398
Unsecured Loans TMM Rate +1.1%
TND to1.75% Jun20toJun24 105,155 204,605
Unsecured Loans DZD 5.00%t05.15% Dec24toJul 26 53,781 181,969
LIBOR+0.88%to Immediate to
Unsecured Loans USD 5.69% Sep 29 4,049,959 9,149,010
19,763,845 29,662,119
Less: Deferred
financingcosts (177,750) (147,322)
Interest payable 182,360 275,424
Profit payable on
islamicfinancing
obligation - 4,594
Total 19,768,455 29,794,815
@) Loans and borrowings are availed for general corporate and operational purposes, financing
working capital requirements and repayment or refinancing of existing borrowing facilities.
(ii) Bonds are listed on London, Irish and Indonesia Stock Exchanges. Certain bonds are

unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

(iii) Islamic Finance includes notes issued under Sukuk Trust Programme on the Indonesia Stock
Exchange.

On 8 April 2021, the Group issued USD 1 billion of senior unsecured Reg S/Rule 144A notes (“The Notes”).
The Notes are issued by its wholly owned subsidiary Ooredoo International Finance Limited under the
existing USD 5 billion Global Medium Term Notes programme and are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange.
The Notesare unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by OoredooQ.P.S.C.

The Notes will mature on 8 April 2031 and witha couponof2.625% peryear. The transaction was priced at
a spread of 103.4 basis points overthe 10-year U.S. Treasuries. Net proceeds from the sale of the Noteswas
used for Ooredoo’s general corporate purposes, including refinancing of its existingindebtedness.

Refertonote 39 forthe fair value of the Group’s loansand borrowings,

The fair value of the Group’s loans and borrowings, which includeloans and borrowings carried at fixed rates
and floating rates, amounted to QR. 20,900,496 thousand as at 31 December 2021 (2020: QR. 31,528,169
thousand).

Loan covenants:

Undertheterms ofthe major borrowing facilities, the Groupisrequired tocomply with the following financial
covenant:
» the netdebtnottoexceed4.5timesthe EBITDA.

The Group hascomplied with these covenants throughoutthe reporting period.
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29. EMPLOYEES BENEFITS

2021 2020
QOR.’000 QR.’000
Employees’ end of service benefits 503,896 492,707
Long term incentive points-based payments * 159,009 201,897
Definedbenefit pension plan/ Labour LawNo. 13/2003 ; 143,638
Other employee benefits - 22,543
Total employee benefits 662,905 860,785
Current portion of long term incentive points-based payments
(Note 31) (90,812) (103,622)
Total 572,093 757,163
Movementin the provision foremployees’ benefitsare as follows:
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
At1January 860,785 875,487
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (7,846) -
Provided during the year 118,655 135,380
Paid during theyear (183,173) (161,355)
Other comprehensiveincome (19,214) 40,210
Relatingtoliabilityheld forsale (118,695) -
Exchange adjustment 12,393 (28,937)
At 31 December 662.905 860.785

* The carryingamount of the liability arising from long term incentive points-based paymentsis determined
by the achievement of certain performance targets and share price of the Company. Asat the reporting date,
the carryingamount of liability arising from long term incentive points-based payments approximatesits fair
value.

30. OTHERNON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
License costpayables (i) 693,301 1,643,092
Site restoration provisions 167,288 124,419
Deferrec.l'gam - 21,517
Others (ii) 53,002 761,725
913,591 2,550,753
@) License cost payablesrepresentamounts payable to Telecom regulators in Indonesia, and Oman for
license charges.
(i) Othersmainly include long-term procurement payables.
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31. TRADEAND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000
Trade payables 1,328,942 3,959,703
Accrued expenses (i) 5,823,992 8,127,544
License costspayable 153,696 1,286,535
Amountsduetointernational carriers - net (ii) 482,285 514,689
Negative fair value of derivatives 110,531 136,457
Long term incentive points-based payments (Note 29) 90,812 103,622
Dividendspayable 155,841 145,567

Otherpayables 796,957 1,059,465
8,943,056 15,333,582

@) This mainly consists of accrual for operating and capital expenditure, in addition to provisions for

legal and tax expense (note 37).

(i) Amountsduetointernational carriers are offset against amounts due from international carriers and
the net amount presented only where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts,and thereisan intentionto settle on a netbasisorrealise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

32. LEASE LIABILITIES

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
AtJanuary 1 7,360,403 6,649,303
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (118,487) -
Additionsduring the year 2,598,496 1,858,555
Interest expense on lease liability 638,639 541,159
Principal element oflease payments (1,084,254) (1,280,481)
Paymentofinterest portion ofleaseliability (555,687) (351,682)
Reductionon earlytermination (134,222) (35,901)
Relatingtoliability held forsale (4,336,974) -
Exchange adjustments (180,738) (20,550)
At 31 December 4,187,176 7:360,403
Non-current portion 3,557,607 6,263,940
Current portion 629,569 1,096,463
4,187,176 7,360,403

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are

monitored bythe Group’s treasury function.

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Maturity analysis

Not laterthaniyear 889,725 1,647,188
Laterthan 1 yearand notlaterthan 5years 3,058,689 4,931,930

Laterthan 5years 1,604,390 3,603,245
Less: unearned finance cost (1,365,628) (2,821,960)
4,187,176 7,360,403
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33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000
Current 46,748 192,456
Non-current 9,972 8,247
56,720 200,703

@) A contract liability mainly arises in respect of the Group’s customer loyalty points scheme (“loyalty
points”). As these loyalty points provide a benefit to customers that they would not receive without entering
into a purchase contract, the promise to provide loyalty points to the customer is a separate performance
obligation. The revenue related to unsatisfied or partially satisfied performance obligations is expected to be

realized withintwoyearsofthe reporting date.

There were no significant changesin the contractliabilitybalances duringthe reporting period.

34. DIVIDEND
Dividend paid andproposed

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Declared, accrued and paid duringthe year
Final dividend for 2020, QR. 0.25 per share (2019:
QR. 0.25 pershare) 800,800 800,800
Proposed forapprovalat Annual General Meeting
(Not recognized as a liabilityas at 31 December)
Final dividend for 2021, QR. 0.30pershare
(2020: QR. 0.25 pershare) 960,960 800,800

The proposed final dividend will be submitted for formal approval atthe Annual General Meeting,

35. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

The Group uses cross currency swap contracts, currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps to manage
some ofthe currencytransaction exposure and interestrate exposure. These contracts are not designated as
cash flow, fairvalue or net investment hedges and are accounted for as derivative financialinstruments:

Notional amounts
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Cross currency swaps = 36,415
Currency forward contracts 55,032 473,734
Fairvaluederivatives 305,231 305,609
360,263 815,758
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35. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fairvalues
2021 2020
Derivative Derivative  Derivative Derivative
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
Cross currency swaps - - - 3,220
Currency forward contracts = 991 - 29,691
Fairvaluederivatives - 106,037 - 93,740
= 107,028 - 126,651

At 31 December 2021, the Group has interest rate swaps entered into with a viewto limit itsfloating interest
rate term loans and currency forward contract that effectively limits change in exchange rate for a future
transaction.

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments held as cash flow hedges together
with the notionalamounts:

Derivative Derivative

Liabilities Assets ivrggg:fsl
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
31 December 2021
Interest rate swaps 3,503 = 218,490
31 December 2020
Interest rate swaps 9,806 - 327,735

36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

At the date of statement of financial position, the Company has outstanding commitments under non-
cancellable operatingleases, which fall due as follows:

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Future minimum lease paymentsin respect of short termand
low valueleases asat 31 December 24.764 48.219

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, certain operatinglease commitments were identified and considered. Theleases
are related to shortterm andlow valueleases.
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37. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATIONS

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Capital expenditure commitments -
Estimated capital expenditure contracted forat theend of the
financial reporFingyearbut not yetincurred 2,223,090 2,642,749
Letters of credit 221,927 206,190
2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Contingentliabilities -
Letters of guarantees 937,401 760,170
Claims against the Group notacknowledged asdebts 15,822 25,978

Litigation and claims

The Group is from timeto time a partyto various legal actions and claims arising inthe ordinary course of its
business. The Group does notbelieve that the resolution of theselegal actions and claims will, individually or
in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations, except as
noted below.

Proceedings against PT Indosat Mega Media relating to misuse of radio frequencies

As previously disclosed, the Attorney General's Office in Jakarta (the "AGO") initiated corruption proceedings
against PT Indosat Mega Media ("IM2"), a 99 per cent owned subsidiary of PT Indosat Tbk. (“Indosat”), a
subsidiary of the Group, for unlawful use of a radio frequency band allocation that had been granted to
Indosat. On 8 July 2013, the Indonesia Corruption Courtimposed a fine against IM2 in a related case against
the former President Director of IM2. Both the former President Director of IM2 and the AGOlodged appeals
to the Jakarta High Court. A written decision of the Supreme Court was received in January 2015 which
confirmed thatthe Supreme Court had upheld the former President Director of IM2 prison sentence of eight
years and thatthe fine against IM2 of approximately QAR474 million (USD130 million) had been reinstated.
The former President Director of IM2 and IM2 submitted appeals and/orjudicial reviews overtheyears, all
of which were lost. IM2 had consequently already fully provided for the case in prioryears. On 16 November
2021, the AGO seized IM2’s assets and the company was placed into voluntary liquidation on 8 December
2021. At the pointwhentheliquidatorhad been appointed, Indosat (and the Group) was deemed to have lost
control over IM2 and had therefore de-consolidated IM2 from this date. Indosat and the Group, supported
by their external legal advisors, have concluded that there is no further exposure to the group following the
liquidation proceedings as the claim onlyrelates to IM2.

Tax demandnotices against Indosat Ooredoo

As at the reporting date, one of the Group’s subsidiaries, Indosat Ooredoo was subject to tax demand
assessmentsby the Indonesia Tax Authority for Value Added Tax (VAT) claims from years 2009 to 2018 for
an amount of QR 98 million; corporate tax claims for years 2007 to 2018 amountingto QR 434 million; and
withholding tax claims from years 2012-2019 amounting to QR 523 million. The Group has applied its
judgement and recognised provisions amounting to QR 236 million in respect of these matters and has
included contingentliabilities where economic outflows are considered possible but not probable.

Tax demandnotices against Asiacell

As at the reporting date, one of the Group’s subsidiaries, Asiacell Communication PJSC (“ACL” or “Asiacell”)
was subject to taxdemand notice by the General Commission for Taxes, Iraq (the “GCT”) forthe years from
2004 t0 2007 for an amountof QR 225 million; 2008 amounting to QR 118 million; 2009-2010 amounting
to QR 205 million; 2015-2016 amounting to QR 152 million; 2017 amounting to QR 90 million; and 2019
amountingto QR 16 million. Asiacell had raised an objection against each of these claims. In the first quarter
of 2021, Asaicell lost the appeal against the tax claimsfor 2004 to 2010 in the Iraq Court of Cassation.
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37. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

The claims were fully paid and closed. In the second quarter of 2021, the Iraqi Tax Authorities partially
accepted thetaxclaimfor 2015-2017 and issued a taxcreditof QR 85 millionthat canbe utilized against the
payment of taxesin future. The tax claim for 2019, for QR 16 million, was accepted and closed by Asiacell. As
aresult,as at 31 December 2021, there are nolonger any material unresolved tax exposures for Asiacell.

Proceedings againstAsiacellrelating to regulatory fee

On 10 June 2014, the Communications and Media Commission (“CMC”) issued a letter notifying Asiacell that
the structure ofthe Companyin relation to ownership of the shares in its capital doesnot fulfill the License
requirementsasan Iraqi Companyto pay 15% of its gross revenue as a regulatory fee, as perlicense agreement
and the CMC has instead demanded 18%. During 2021, whilst still disputing the matter, Asiacell, at the
request of the CMC, deposited the full amount of regulatory fees covering the period until December 2020
amounting to QR 1,060 million (USD 291 million). Asiacell has fully provisioned for the 3% incremental
license fees for the period from January 2021 to December 2021 in the amount of QAR 83 million (USD 23

million)untilthe case is resolved.

Proceedings againstAsiacellrelating to Universal Services Fee (“USF”)

On 7 December 2017, the CMC issued letters notifying Asiacell and other operators in Iraq asking them to
hold 1.5% of their 2017 Revenues (excludinglocal interconnection costs)as a USF (“USF”). Asiacell complied
with the CMC request and has a full provision for the years 2017 to 2019 amounting to QAR 197.3 million
(USD 49.1 million). In 2018, Asiacell received a second letter asking them to provision the 1.5% USF from the
end ofthe second anniversary of the license term (2009). Management estimates the additional exposure in
relationto thisdemandis approximately QAR 691 million (USD 190 million). Asiacell rejected the retroactive
implementation of the USF onthe groundsthat itisillegal. Another operator in Iraq initiated a dispute against
the CMC decision at the CMC Hearing Panel. In February 2021, the operator won the dispute with CMC in
which the Appeal Panel stated that the CMC had no right to impose retroactive application of the new USF
fees. Duetothis, Asiacell inMarch 2021initiated its own dispute proceeding at the CMC Hearing Panel. Based
on this, Asiacell is confident of a successful outcome in their case considering the precedent already set and
has therefore notrecorded any provision for this matter.

Proceeding against Ooredoo Palestine

On 23 October 2017, The Regulatorissued a letter notifying Ooredoo Palestine to pay the second payment of
the license acquisition fee of QAR 291 million (USD 8 0 million) due to the fact that Ooredoo Palestine reached
700 thousand subscribers. The license setsup a third license payment of QAR 488 million (USD 134 million)
when Ooredoo Palestinereaches 1 millionsubscribers.

In September 2019, the Minister of Finance and Minister of Telecom and IT (MTIT) issued a letter notifying
Ooredoo Palestine to pay QR.781million (USD 214 million) whichis the remaining unpaid second and third
paymentofthe license fee. These second and third payments are subjectto the assignment ofthe 2Gand 3G
spectrum and the actual launch of these services in the West Bank and Gaza.

Management have applied their judgement and raised a provision amountingto QAR 163 million (USD 44.8
million)forthese claims. Management, supported by their external legal advisors, is of the view that Ooredoo
Palestine hasstrong groundsto defend these claims.

Algeria Central Bank against Ooredoo Algeria

In late 2016, Algeria Central Bank (“ACB”) conducted a review of Ooredoo Algeria money transfers outside
Algeria and currency exchange. The review claims that Ooredoo Algeria has committed money transfer and
foreign exchange regulations violations during 2013-2014. Accordingly, in December 2018, Algeria’s public
prosecution along with the Algerian Ministry of Finance initiated a criminal investigation against Ooredoo
Algeria. The investigation includes 14 misdemeanour cases against Ooredoo Algeria in relation to money
transfer from the Company’s export bank account and roaming repatriation of funds without complying with
the central bank’s processes. The criminal court sentenced the companyto pay a total of QR 291 million (USD
8o million)in finesand compensation.
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37. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

The company has provided QR 25 million (USD 7.8 million) provision related to the export bank account
violations. The company appealed the decisionto the Court of Cassation.

The net exposure amountingto QR 266 million (USD 73 million) is related to the roaming re patriation case.

During 2020, the company appealed the case to the Supreme court. The company, supported by external legal
opinion, believes that it will more likely than not win the case in the Court of Cassation. As a result, the
company did not provide for this exposure.

The Group is presenting the provisions recognized forlegal and tax exposures under trade and other payables
(Note 31).

Other matters

In addition to the above matters, as at 31 December 2021, there were a number of legal, regulatory and tax
disputesongoingin various of the Group’soperating entities, the outcome of which maynot be favourable to
the Group,and none of which are considered individually material. The Group has applied its judgement and
has recognisedliabilities based on whether additional amounts will be payable and has induded contingent
liabilities where economic outflows are considered possible but not probable.

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, finance
leases, and trade payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group hasvarious financial assets such astrade receivables, investments and cash and short-
term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, primarily interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps and
forward currency contracts. The purpose is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the
Group’s operationsand its sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
operational risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which
are summarized below:

Marketrisk

Market riskis the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates
and equity prices will affect the Group’s profit, equity or value of its holding of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control the market risk exposure within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing return.

Interestraterisk

The Group’sfinancial assetsandliabilitiesthat are subject to interestrate risk comprise bank deposits, loans
receivable, investment measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, loans payables and
borrowings. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities with floating interest rates and fixed interest instruments maturing
within three months from the end of the financial reporting year.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and
borrowings. To manage this, the Group entersinto interest rate swaps, in which the Group agrees to exchange,
at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference
to an agreed upon notional amount. The swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations. At 31
December 2021, aftertakingintoaccount the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 83% of the Group’s
borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest (2020: 68%).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the consolidated statement of profit orloss and equity to
reasonably possible changes in interest rates by 25 basis points, with all other variables held constant. The
sensitivity of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and equity is the effect of the assumed changes in
interest rates for one year, based on the floating rate financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31
December. The effect of decreases in interest rates is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the
increasesshown.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Effecton Effecton
consolidated consolidated
statement of profit  statement of
orloss changes in equity
+25bp +25 bp
QR.’000 QR.’000
At 31 December 2021
USD LIBOR (7,353) i
Others (3,973) E
At 31 December 2020
USD LIBOR (19,848) -
Others (3.973) -

The Group has closely monitored the market and the output from the various industry working groups
managing the transition to new benchmark interest rates. This includes announcements made by the IBOR
regulators. The regulators have made clear that, at the end of 2021, it will no longer seek to persuade, or
compel, banksto submitIBORs.

Foreign currencyrisk

Foreign currencyrisk is therisk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changesin foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the riskof changes in foreign exchange
rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities and the Group’s net investment in foreign
subsidiaries.

The Group had thefollowingsignificant net exposure denominated in foreign currencies.

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Assets Assets

(Liabilities) (Liabilities)

Kuwaiti Dinar (KD) 22,434 21,979
USDollars (USD) (2,886,181) (2,987,110)
Euro (EUR) 67,640 55,019
Great British Pounds (GBP) 1,169 8,947
Algerian Dinar (DZD) 9,013 8,848
Myanmar Kyat (MMK) - 124,684
Others 18,582 (81,387)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to consolidated statement of profit or loss and equity for a
reasonably possible change in the following currencies against Qatari Riyal, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities and the
Group’s equity on account of translation of foreign subsidiaries.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The effect of decreases in foreign exchange rates is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the
increasesshown:

Effect on profit orloss

2021 2020
+10% +10%
QR.’000 QR.’000

Kuwaiti Dinar (KD) 2,243 2,198
US Dollar (USD) (286,618) (298,711)
Euro (EUR) 6,764 5,502
Great British Pounds (GBP) 117 895
Algerian Dinar (DZD) 901 885
Myanmar Kyat (MMK) - 12,468

76



Ooredoo Q.P.S.C.

Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(All amounts are expressedin Qatari Riyals unless otherwise stated)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Equitypricerisk
The Group isnotsignificantly exposed to equity price riskas the balance of the investments held by the Group

and classified either asinvestmentin equityinstruments designated at FVTOCI or Financial assets measured
at FVTPLis not material.

Creditrisk

Credit riskis therisk that one partyto a financial instrument will fail todischarge an obligation and cause the
otherparty toincura financial loss.

The Group provides telecommunication services to various customers. It is the Group’s policy that all
customers who obtain the goods and / or services on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the purchase of service limits are
established for each customer, which are reviewed regularly based on the level of past transactions and
settlement.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expectedlossallowance fortradereceivables, unbilled subscriber revenue and contract assets. The expected
credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industryin which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well asthe forecast direction of conditionsat the reporting date

To measure the expected creditlosses, trade receivables, unbilled subscriber revenue and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared creditrisk characteristics and the days pastdue. The contract assets relate to
unbilled services and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same
types of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for the current trade
receivablesare a reasonable approximation of theloss rates for the unbilled subscriber revenue and contract
assets.

For the unbilled subscriber revenue and contract assets, the provision for loss allowance amounted to QR.
53,381 thousand (2020: QR.39,080 thousand).

Refertonote 22 forthe agingandlossratesoftradereceivables.

Unimpaired receivables are expected on the basis of past experience to be fully recoverable. It is not the
practice of the Group to obtain collateral over receivables and the vast majorities are therefore, unsecured.

The average credit period on sales of goods and rendering of services varies from 30 to 9o days depending on
the type of customer and local market conditions. No interestis charged on outstanding trade receivables.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Management has assessed that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions in relation to the
provisionforloss allowance would notresultin a material impact.

The Group appliesthe general model approach to measure expected credit losses for otherreceivables, cash
and bankbalances (excluding cash on hand) and due from related parties.

Credit risk measurement

The Group considers the probability of default uponinitial recognition of asset and whether there has beena
significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significantincrease in credit risk the company comparestheriskofa default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

- internal credit rating;

- externalcreditrating(as faras available);

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meetitsobligations;

- actualorexpectedsignificant changesin the operatingresults of the borrower;

- significantincreasesin creditrisk on other financial instruments of the same borrower;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-
party guarantees or credit enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the borrower, including changes in
the paymentstatus of borrowersin the group and changes in the operating results of the borrower.

Macroeconomic information (such as market interest rates or growth rates) is incorporated as part of the
internal rating model. Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk ona financial assethasincreased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 to 9o days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstratesotherwise.

Credit risk grades

Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors thatare indicative of risk of default.
These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. Exposures are subject
to on-going monitoring, which mayresultin an exposure being moved to a different creditrisk grade.

While otherreceivablesand due from related parties are subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9,
the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

The exposure of credit risk from amounts due from international carriers is minimal as the amounts are
driven by contractual arrangementswith other telecom operators.

With respect to credit risk arising from the cash and bank balances (excluding cash on hand), the Group’s
exposure arises from default of the counterparty, witha maximum exposure equal to the carryingamount of
theseinstruments.

The Group reduces the exposure to credit risk arising from bank balances by maintaining bank accounts in
reputed banks.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group reduces the exposure to credit risk arising from bank balances by maintaining the bank accounts
primarily with investment grade banks. As on 31 December 2021, 57% (2020: 59%) of bank balances were
maintained with banks having a creditratingof AAA to A-, 5% (2020: nil) of bank balances were maintained
with banks having a credit rating of BBB+to BBB-and 38% (2020: 41%) of bank balances were maintained
with bankshavinga credit ratingof BB+ and below.

The below table shows the collective assessment of movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for
financial instruments:

2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000
Balanceas at1January 2,345,013 2,277,858
Charge forthe year 230,383 360,775
Amountswritten off (98,226) (180,859)
Amountsrecovered (6,252) (5,556)
Relatedto assetsheldforsale (625,692) -
Foreign exchange gainsandlosses 660 (107,205)
Balanceas at 31 December 1,845.886 2,345,013

Credit risk arising from derivative financialinstrumentsis at any time, limited tothose with derivative assets,
asrecorded on the consolidated statement of financial position. With gross settled derivatives, the Groupis
also exposedto settlement risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI, as disclosed in note 17, has no
credit risk. The Group holds no collateral over any of these balances.

Creditriskmanagement

Credit risk refers tothe risk that a counterparty will default onits contractual obligations resultingin financial
loss tothe Group. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into
account any collateralheld or other creditenhancements, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the Group
arises from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Considering the Group’slarge and unrelated customer base, the concentration
of credit risk is limited.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Liquidityrisk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managingliquidityriskis to ensure, as faras possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet itsliabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group’s objective is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of the Group’s own reserves and bank
facilities. The Group’sterms of sales require amountsto be paid within 30 to 9o days from the invoice date.

The table belowsummarizesthe maturity profile of the Group’sfinancialliabilitiesat 31 December based on
contractual undiscounted payments:

Less than 1to 2

2to5
1year years years >5years Total

QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
At 31 December 2021
Loans andborrowings 753,671 2,647,782 9,214,631 11,503,739 24,119,823
Trade payables 1,328,942 - - - 1,328,942
License costspayable 153,743 146,499 84,328 481,021 865,591
Leasehablht%es o 889,725 1,316,803 1,741,796 1,604,390 5,552,804
Otherfinancialliabilities 683,628 235,485 - - 919,113
Total 3,809,709 4,346,659 11,040,755 13,589,150 32,786,273

Lessthan1 1to2

year years 2to5years > 5years Total

QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
At 31 December 2020
Loans andborrowings 6,302,176 6,181,136 14,351,701 8,118,385 34,953,398
T?ade payables 3,959,703 - - - 3,959,703
License costspayable 1,359,303 614,539 916,464 883,098 3,773,404
Leaseliabilities 1647189 1837102 3,004,825 3,603,247 10,182,363
Otherfinancialliabilities 754,768 222,604 } } 077,462
Total 14,023,139 8,855,471 18,362,090 12,604,730 53,846,330

Capital management

The Group manages itscapital to ensure thatit willbe able to continue as a going concern while maximizing
the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Group makes
adjustmentstoits capital structure,in light of changes in economic and business conditions. To maintain or
adjustthe capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, orissue new shares.
No changesweremadein the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020.

Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group that amounted to QR. 26,408,528 thousand at 31
December 2021 (2020: QR. 28,200,823 thousand).

The Group's management reviews the capital structure of the Group on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
gearingratioas at 31 December 2021 is 47% (2020: 75%).
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Gearing ratio
The gearingratioat year end was as follows:

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000

Debt (i) 23,955,631 37,155,218
Cash and bankbalances (11,670,454) (15,678,488)
Net debt 12,285,177 21,476,730
Equity (i) 26,408,528 28,200,823
Net debt to equityratio 47% 75%
6) Debt is thelong term debt obtained and leaseliabilities, asdetailed in note 28 and 32, respectively.
(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group thatare managed as capital.

39. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fairvalues

Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial
instrumentsthatare carried in the consolidated financial statements:

Carrying
amounts Fairvalues
2021 2020 2021 2020

QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

Financial assets

Financialassets—equityinstruments 686,078 789,007 686,078 789,007
Trade and otherreceivables 3,716,812 4,192,929 3,716,812 4,192,929
Bankbalancesand cash 11,670,454 15,678,488 11,670,454 15,678,488
Financialliabilities

Loans and borrowings 19,768,455 29,794,815 20,900,496 31,528,169
Othernon-currentliabilities 693,301 1,643,092 693,301 1,643,092
Derivative financial instruments 110,531 136,457 110,531 136,457
Long term incentive points-based payments 159,009 201,897 159,009 201,897
Trade and other payables 2,917,721 6,965,959 2,917,721 6,965,959
Income tax payable 320,220 1,082,491 320,220 1,082,491

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values.

« Cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, and other current liabilities
approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

+ Long-term fixed-rate and variable-rate receivables are evaluated by the Group based on parameters
such as interestrates, specificcountryrisk factors, and individual creditworthiness of the customer and
the risk characteristics of the financed project. Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken to
account for the expected losses of these receivables. At the end of the reporting period, the camying
amountsofsuch receivables, net of allowances, approximate their fair values.

+ Fair value of quoted investments is based on price quotations at the end of the reporting period. The
fairvalue ofloans frombanks and other financial debts, as well as other non-current financialliabilities
is estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates applicable for similar risks and maturity
profiles. Fair values of unquoted financial assets are estimated using appropriate valuation techniques.
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39. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

« The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally
financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings. Derivatives valued using valuation
techniques with market observable inputs are mainly interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forward,
contracts for differences and currency swaps. The most frequently applied valuation techniques
include forward pricing and swap models using present value calculations. The models incorporate
various inputs including the credit quality of counter parties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates

and interestrate curves.

Fair valuehierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments

by valuation technique.

Level1:

Group can accessat the measurement date.

Quoted prices (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets of
liability, either directly orindirectly.
Levels: Unobservableinputsforthe assetorliability.
The following table providesthefair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities at 31
December 2021 and 2020:
31 December
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
Assets:
Financial assets measured atfair
value:
FVTOCI 682,195 - - 682,195
FVTPL 3,883 = 3,883 -
686,078 - 3,883 682,195
Liabilities:
Other financial liabilities measured
atfairvalue
Derivative financial instruments 110,531 - 110,531 -
Other financial liability for which fair
valueis disclosed
Loans and borrowings 20,900,496 - 20,900,496 -
21,011,027 - 21,011,027 =
31 December
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
Assets:
Financial assets measured atfair
value:
FVTOCI 703,178 - - 703,178
FVTPL 85,829 2,017 83,809 3
789,007 2,017 83,809 703,181
Liabilities:
Other financial liabilities measured
atfairvalue
Derivative financial instruments 136,457 - 136,457 -
Other financial liability for which fair
valueis disclosed
Loans and borrowings 31,528,169 - 31,528,169 -
31,664,626 - 31,664,626 -
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39. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
There is no transfer from Level 1,2 and 3 duringthe financial period.

At 31 December 2021, the Group has notes with a fairvalue of QR. 16,611,437 thousand (2020: 20,409,536
thousand). The notes are listed on the Irish bond market and the fair value of these instruments is determined
by reference to quoted prices in this market. The market for these bonds is not considered to be liquid and
consequentlythe fair value measurementis categorised withinlevel 2 of the fairvalue hierarchy.

For fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the fair values are
determined using appropriate valuation techniques, which include the use of mathematical models, such as
discounted cash flowmodels and option pricing models, comparison tosimilar instruments for which market
observables prices exist and other valuation techniques. Valuation techniques incorporate assumptions
regarding discountrates, estimates of future cash flows asotherfactors.

The following table summarisesthe quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used
inlevel 3 fair value measurements for the individually significantinvestment:

Fairvalueat3 Relationship of
December Unobservable Valueof unobservable
Description 2021 inputs inputs inputs tofair value
QR.’000
Investmentina
telecommunication Achangeinthe EV/EBITDA
related company by 10% wouldincrease/decrease
classified as the fairvalueby QAR 38,402
FVTOCI 422,242 EV/EBITDA 7.75times thousand
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Related partytransactions and balances

Related parties represent associated companies including Government and semi-Government agencies,
associates, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group, and companies of
which theyare principal owners. In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions with
related parties. Pricing policies and terms of transactions are approved by the Group’s management. The
Group enters into commercial transactions with Government related entities in the ordinary course of
business in terms of providing telecommunication services, placement of deposits and obtaining credit
facilitiesetc.

a) Transactionswith Governmentand related entities

Asstatedin Note 1, Qatar Holding L.L.C. is the Parent Company of the Group, whichis controlled by Qatar
Investment Authority. The Group entersinto commercial transactions with the Qatar Government and other
Government related entitiesin the ordinary course of business, which includes providing telecommunication
services, placement of deposits and obtaining credit facilities. All these transactions are inthe ordinary course
of business at normal commercial terms and conditions. Following are the significant balances and
transactions betweenthe Company and the Qatar Government and other Government related entities.

(i) Tradereceivables-netofimpairmentinclude an amount of QR 563,081 thousand (2020: QR. 554,739
thousand)receivable from Government and Government related entities.

(ii) The most significant amount of revenue from a Government related entity amounted to QR. 212,717
thousand (2020: QR. 93,474 thousand).

(i) Industry feepertainstotheindustry fee payableto CRA, a Government related entity.

In accordance with IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, the Group has elected not to disclose transactions with
the Qatar Government and other entities over which the Qatar Government exerts control, joint control or
significant influence. The nature of transactions that the Group has with such related parties relates to
provision of telecommunication services on normal commercial terms and conditions.

b) Transactionswith Directorsand other key management personnel

Key management personnel comprise the Board of Directors and key members of management having
authority and responsibility of planning, directingand controlling the activities of the Group.

Director’sremuneration of QR. 14,400 thousand was proposed for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
QR. 18,593 thousand). The compensation and benefits related to Board of Directors and key management
personnel amounted to QR. 360,584 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: QR. 394,716
thousand), and end of service benefits QR. 15,709 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: QR.
15,529 thousand). The remuneration to the Board of Directors and key management personnel has been
included under the caption “Employee salaries and associated costs”.

41. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTINGJUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation ofthe consolidated financial statementsin compliance with IFRS requires the management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. Future events may occur which will
cause theassumptionsusedin arriving at the estimates to change. The effects of any change in estimates are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements astheybecome reasonably determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
includingexpectations of future events that arebelieved to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments,

apart from thoseinvolving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in
the consolidated financial statements:
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41. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTINGJUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Revenue recognition

Revenuerecognition under IFRS 15 necessitates the collation and processing of very large amounts of data,
use of management judgements and estimates to produce financial information. The most significant
accounting judgementsand source of estimation uncertainty are disclosed below.

Judgmentsin determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations

Pernote 4, the Group generally recognises revenue over time as it performs continuoustransfer of control of
these services to the customers. Because customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided bythese services and the control transfer takes place over time, revenue is also recognised based on
the extent of service transfer/ completion of transfer of each performance obligation. In determining the
method for measuring progress for these POs, we have considered the nature of these services aswell as the
nature ofits performance.

For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, the Group considers the general requirements of
control (i.e. direct the use of asset and obtain substantially all benefits) and the following non-exhaustive list
of indicators of transfer of control:

« Entityhaspresentrightto payment

+ Customerhaslegal title

« Entityhastransferredlegal possession

» Customerhas significant risk and rewards
» Customerhas acceptedtheasset

In makingtheir judgment, the directors considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue set out
in IFRS 15 and, in particular, whether the Group had transferred control of the goods to the customer.
Following the detailed quantification of the Group’s liability in respect of rectification work, and the agreed
limitation on the customer’s ability to require further work or to require replacement of the goods, the
directors are satisfied that control has been transferred and that recognition of the revenue in the current
year is appropriate, in conjunction with the recognition of an appropriate warranty provision for the
rectification costs. However, the determination of obligationsis, for the primary goods and services sold by
the Group, not considered tobea critical accountingjudgement.

Principal versus agent

Significant judgments are made by management when concluding whether the Group is transacting as an
agent or a principal. The assessment is performed for each separate revenue stream in the Group. The
assessment requires an analysis of key indicators, specificallywhether the Group:

» carries anyinventoryrisk;

« hasthe primaryresponsibility for providing the goodsorservicesto the customer;

+ hasthelatitudeto establish pricing; and

» bearsthe customer’s credit risk.

Whether the Group is considered tobe the principal or an agent in the transaction depends on analysis by
management of both the legal form and substance of the agreement between the Group and its business
partners. Scenarios requiring judgement to determine whether the Group is a principal oran agentinclude,
for example, those where the Group delivers third-party branded services (such as value added services or TV
content) to customers and mobile money service.

Determiningtheleaseterm

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension and termination
options are included in several leases across various classes of right-of-use assets across the Group. These
terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. In cases where lease
contracts have indefinite term or are subject to auto renewal, lease term is determined considering the
business case and reasonably certain renewal of lease.
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41. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTINGJUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

As a lessee, optional periods are included in the lease term ifthe Group is reasonably certain it will exercise
an extensionoption or will notexercise a termination option; this depends on an analysis by management of
all relevant facts and circumstances including the leased asset’s nature and purpose, the economic and
practical potential forreplacing the asset and any plans that the Group has in place forthe future use of the
asset. Where a leased asset is highly customised (either when initially provided or as a result of leasehold
improvements) orit is impractical or uneconomicto replace thenthe Groupis morelikely tojudge thatlease
extension optionsare reasonably certain to be exercised. The value of the right-of-use asset and lease liability
will be greater when extension optionsare indudedin thelease term.

The lease terms can vary significantly by type and use of asset and geography. In addition, the exact lease
term is subject to the non-cancellable period and rights and options in each contract. Generally, lease terms
are judgedtobethelongerofthe minimumlease termand:

- Between 5and 10 years forland and buildings (excludingretail), with termsat the top end of this range if
the lease relates to assets that are considered to be difficult to exit sooner for economic, practical or
reputational reasons;

- The customer service agreement length for leases of local loop connections or other assets required to
provide fixed line services to individual customers.

In most instances the Group has optionsto renewor extend leases for additional periodsafterthe end of the
leaseterm which are assessed using the criteriaabove.

The lease termis reassessed if an option isactually exercised (or not exercised) or the Group becomes obliged
toexercise (ornot exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certaintyis onlyrevised if a significant event or
a significant changein circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the control of
the lessee.
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41. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTINGJUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty at the financial
position date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities withinthe nextfinancial year are discussed below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each
reportingdate. Goodwill and otherindefinitelife intangibles are tested forimpairment annually and at other
timeswhensuchindicatorsexist.

The factors that the Group considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the
following:

+ significantorprolonged declinein the fair value of the asset;

« marketinterest rates or other market rates of return on investments have increased duringthe period,
and thoseincreases arelikely to affectthe discount rate used in calculating the asset’svaluein use and
decreasethe asset’srecoverable amount materially;

+ significantunderperformancerelative to expected historical or projected future operating results;

« significant changesin the manner of use ofthe acquired assets orthe strategy for overall business; and

+ significant negative industry or economictrends.

The Group determines animpairmentloss whenever the carryingamount of an asset exceedsitsrecoverable
amount. The recoverable amounthas been determined based on value in use calculations. The cash flows are
derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is
not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset base of the cash-generating
unit being tested. The recoverable amount of investment is determined based on the net present value of
future cash flows, management assumptions made, incduding management’s expectations of the investment’s:

« growth in earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”), calculated as
adjusted operating profitbefore depreciation and amortisation;

+ timingand quantum of future capital expenditures;

» longterm growth rates ranges during discrete period and terminal period;

» long-term cashflowsandworking capital estimates; and

» theselection of discountratesreflectstherisksinvolved.

The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well
as the expected future cashinflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. Refer note 16 for the
impairment assessment forinvestmentin an associate.

In the case of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinitelives, at a minimum, such assetsare subject to an
annualimpairment test and more frequently whenever there is an indication that such asset may be impaired.
This requires an estimation of the valuein use of the cash-generating unitsto which the goodwillis allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating unitand tochoose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows (Note 13).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment and
investment properties based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and investment properties are reviewed at least
annually and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear and
technical or commercial obsolescence on the use of these assets. It is possible that future results of operations
could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned
above. butit isnot considered to be a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying values of property,
plant and equipmentin theyearto 31 December 2021 if these estimates were revised.
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41. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTINGJUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Provision and contingentliabilities

The Group’s management determines provision on best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
presentobligation as a result of the past event atthe reporting date.

The Group’s management measures contingent liabilities as a possible obligation depending on whether some
uncertain future event occurs or a present obligation but payment is not probable or the amount cannot be
measuredreliably (Note 37).

Uncertain tax exposures

In certain circumstances, the Group maynot be ableto determine the exactamount ofits current or future
tax liabilities or recoverable amount of the claim refund due to ongoing investigations by, or discussions with
the various taxation authorities. In determining the amount to be recognized in respect of uncertain tax
liability or the recoverable amount of the claim for tax refund related to uncertain tax positions, the Group
applies similar considerations as it would use in determining the amount of a provision to be recognized in
accordance with IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment, IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assetsand IAS 12 Income Taxes (Note 37).

Fair value of unquoted equity investments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques
including the discounted cash flows model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets
where possible, but where thisis not feasible, a degree of judgmentis required in establishing fair values. The
judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in
assumptionsabout these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments (Note 39).

Calculation ofloss allowance

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history and existing market conditions, as well as forward-looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed
in (note 37).
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42. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON —

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table summarizes the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that have

materialnon-controlling interests, before anyintra-group eliminations:

Indosat Ooredoo
Asiacell NMTC* Ooredoo Oman
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
31 December 2021
Non-current assets 4,318,189 10,450,002 14,611,474 3,820,692
Current assets 1,839,459 3,651,767 2,774,005 541,877
Non-currentliabilities (386,684) (2,882,272) (7,291,290) (585,131)
Current liabilities (2,291,211) (4,734,457) (7,644,258) (1,373,786)
Net assets 3,479,753 6,485,040 2,449,931 2,403,652
Carrying amount of NCI 1,250,653 1,369,031 1,144,543 1,081,925
Revenue 3,656,773 7,262,510 7,993,812 2,324,699
Profit 824,530 304,569 1,757,160 119,769
Profit allocated to NCI 296,343 70,996 633,848 53,588
Indosat Ooredoo
Asiacell NMTC* Ooredoo Oman
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
31 December 2020
Non-current assets 4,028,605 11,369,194 15,495,866 3,910,737
Current assets 4,955,081 3,255,966 2,344,927 604,329
Non-currentliabilities (70,431) (3,240,500) (8,310,953) (674,057)
Current liabilities (5,690,634) (4,780,743) (6,330,358) (1,403,617)
Net assets 3,222,711 6,603,917 3,199,482 2,437,392
Carrying amount of NCI 1,158,270 1,427,282 1,391,662 1,097,668
Revenue 4,019,839 7,039,902 6,983,284 2,508,775
Profit 725,674 82,638 (150,762) 201,271
Profit allocated to NCI 260,813 33,726 (38,599) 89,345
* This includes the Group’s subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest (NCI) within NMTC

sub-group (Wataniya Telecom Algerie S.P.A. (“Ooredoo Algeria”), Ooredoo Tunisie S. A. (“Ooredoo Tunisia”),
Wataniya Palestine Mobile Telecommunications Public Shareholding Company (“Ooredoo Palestine”),

before anyintra-group eliminations.
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is set out below in accordance with “IFRS 8
Operating Segments”. IFRS 8 requires reportable segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), which s the “Board of
Directors”, and used to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance.

The Group is mainly engaged in a single line of business, being the supply of telecommunications services
and related products. The majority of the Group’s revenues, profits and assets relate toits operations in the
MENA. Outside of Qatar, the Group operates through its subsidiaries and associates and major operations
that are reported to the Group’s CODM are considered by the Group to be reportable segments. Revenue is
attributed to reportable segments based on the location of the Group companies. Inter-segment sales are
chargedat arms’length prices.

Formanagementreporting purposes, the Groupis organised into business units based on their geographical
area covered,and hassixreportable segments as follows:

1. Ooredoo Qataris aprovider of domestic and international telecommunication services within the State
of Qatar;
2. Asiacellis a provider of mobile telecommunication servicesin Irag;

3. Indosat Ooredoo is a provider of telecommunication services such as cellular services, fixed
telecommunications, multimedia, datacommunication and internet servicesin Indonesia.

4. Ooredoo Omanis a provider of mobile and fixed telecommunicationservices in Oman;

5. QOoredoo Algeriais a provider of mobile and fixed telecommunication services in Algeria;

6. Ooredoo Myanmaris a provider of mobile and fixed telecommunication servicesin Myanmar; and

7. Othersinclude some of the Group’s subsidiaries which are providers of wireless and telecommunication

services.

NMTC group is a provider of mobile telecommunication services in Kuwait and elsewhere in the MENA
region. NMTC group includes balances and results of Ooredoo Kuwait, Ooredoo Tunisia, Ooredoo Algeria,
Wataniya Palestine, Ooredoo Maldives PLC and others. In 2020, based on the recent information and
circumstances, management reassessed and concluded thateach of the aforementioned entities represents a
separate operating segment and should be assessed individually whether it meets the criteria of IFRS 8
Operating Segments, asa reportable segment. Ifnot, suchis reported as part of “Others”.

Management monitors the operating results of its operating subsidiaries separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on operating profit or loss of these reportable segments. Transfer pricing between reportable segments are
onan arm’s lengthbasisin a manner similarto transactions with third parties.
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43.

Operatingsegments

The followingtables present revenue and profit information regardingthe Group’s operating segments for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

Year ended 31 December 2021

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Adjustin
ents and
Ooredoo Ooredoo Indosat Ooredoo Ooredoo eliminati
Qatar Asiacell Algeria Ooredoo Oman Myanmar Others ons Total
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
Revenue
Revenue from rende;n'n.g of teleqom services 7,098,671 3,651,117 2,249,272 7,935,124 2,211,270 1,053,563 4,206,634 - 28,405,651
Sale of telecommunications equipment 77,812 5,151 4,641 7,590 87,508 2,661 1,199,761 - 1,385,124
Revenue from use of assetsbyothers 17,678 - - 49,961 23,115 7,607 10,606 - 108,967
Inter-segment 270,171 505 20,754 1,137 2,806 4,131 308,283 (607,787) (1) -
Total revenue 7,464,332 3,656,773 2,274,667 7,993,812 2,324,699 1,067,962 5,725,284 (607,787) 29,899,742
Timing of revenue recognition
Atapoint in time 330,599 5,151 4,641 7,590 87,508 2,661 1,243,041 (296,067) 1,385,124
Overtime 7,133,733 3,651,622 2,270,026 7,986,222 2,237,191 1,065,301 4,482,243 (311,720) 28,514,618
7,464,332 3,656,773 2,274,667 7,993,812 2,324,699 1,067,962 5,725,284 (607,787) 29,899,742
Results
Segment profit (loss) before tax* 1,984,075 934,927 68,368 1,853,429 248,302 (3,517,793) 525,317 (417,308) (i) 1,679,317
Depreciationand amortisation 894,455 818,236 672,614 2,820,192 700,606 632,759 1,018,542 417,039  (iii) 7,974,443
Net finance costs 618,078 15,269 46,228 837,536 38,994 194,734 53,470 - 1,804,309

*

of assets and financecost.

Note:
(1)

Inter-segmentrevenuesare eliminated on consolidation.

Segment profit / loss before taxis determined after deducting all expenses attributable tothe segment including depreciation, amortisation and impairment
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2020

Adjustments
Ooredoo Ooredoo  Indosat  Ooredoo Ooredoo and
Qatar Asiacell  Algeria  Ooredoo Oman  Myanmar  Others eliminations Total
QR.’000 QR."000 QR.000 QR.000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000
Revenue
Revenuefrom rendering oftelecom services 6,751,825 4,018,558 2,223,543 6,814,718 2,375,379 1,155,769 4,063,421 - 27,403,213
Sale of telecommunications equipment 110,569 - 7,300 29,257 108,290 3,050 1,012,557 - 1,271,023
Revenue from use of assetsby others 15,008 - - 136,123 21,501 11,414 8,283 - 192,329
Inter-segment 195,106 1,281 24,759 3,186 3,605 1,281 301,371 (530,589) (i) -
Total revenue 7,072,508 4,019,839 2,255,602 6,983,284 2,508,775 1,171,514 5,385,632 (530,589) 28,866,565
Timing of revenuerecognition
Atapointintime 276,243 - 7,300 29,257 108,290 3,050 1,072,057 (225,174) 1,271,023
Overtime 6,796,265 4,019,839 2,248,302 6,954,027 2,400,485 1,168,464 4,313,575 (305,415) 27,595,542
7,072,508 4,019,839 2,255,602 6,983,284 2,508,775 1,171,514 5,385,632 (530,589) 28,866,565
Results
Segment profit (loss) before tax* 1,922,718 688,586 28,704  (145,200) 353,899  (330,892)  (153,892)  (738,804) (i) 1,625,029
Depreciationand amortisation 897,171 908,108 681,346 2,722,584 712,637 900,254 996,857 426,503 (iii) 8,245,460
Net finance costs 711,626 4,595 35,885 816,489 37,610 222,862 66,509 - 1,895,576
* Segment profit / loss before taxis determined after deducting all expenses attributable tothe segment including depreciation, amortisation and impairment

of assets and financecost.
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i) Segment profitbefore tax does notinclude the following:

2021 2020
QR.’000 QR.’000
Amor'tisationo.fintangibles (417,308) (426,794)
Impairment of intangibles - (312,100)
(417.308) (738.894)

(iii) Amortisation relating to additional intangibles identified from business combination was not

considered as partof segment expense.
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The followingtable presents segment assets of the Group’soperatingsegmentsas at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Indosat Adjustments
Ooredoo Ooredoo Ooredoo Ooredoo Ooredoo and
Qatar Asiacell Algeria (i) Oman Myanmar Others Eliminations Total

QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

Segment assets (i)
At 31 December 2021 16,854,963 6,034,345 3,591,916 16,871,064 4,355,850 2,754,591 10,255,353 16,639,446 77,357,528
At 31 December 2020 18,362,392 8,859,177 3,949,676 17,314,280 4,496,988 6,839,523 10,640,763 17,274,262 87,737,061

Capital expenditure (ii)

At 31 December 2021 802,886 993,485 297,173 1,760,779 501,693 141,541 646,586 - 5,144,143
At 31 December 2020 916,715 1,309,303 538,156 2,269,327 1,284,587 188,272 721,282 - 7,227,642
Note:

1) Goodwill and otherintangibles arising from business combinationamountingtoQR. 16,639,446 thousand (31 December 2020: QR. 17,274,262 thousand)

was not considered as part of segment assets.

(i) Capital expenditure consists of additionstoproperty, plant and equipment and intangibles excluding goodwill and assets arising from business combinations.
(iii) Classified as assetsheldforsale as at 31 December 2021 (note 46).
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44. CONTRIBUTION TOSOCIAL AND SPORTS FUND

According to Qatari Law No. 13 for the year 2008 and the related clarifications issued in January 2010, the
Group is required to contribute 2.5% of its annual net profits to the state social and sports fund. The
clarificationrelatingto Law No. 13 requires the payable amount to be recognised as a distribution of income.
Hence, thisis recognised in the statement of changesin equity.

During the year, the Group appropriated an amount of QR. 990 thousand (2020: QR. 40,358 thousand)
representing 2.5% of the net profit generated from Qatar Operations.

45. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The tablebelowdetails changes inthe Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

Financing Non-cash Other 31
1January cash changes changes December
2021 Sflows (i) (i) (iii) 2021

QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

Loans andborrowings (Note 28) 20,662,119  (5.410,371) - (4487,903) 19,763,845
DeferredﬁnanClng costs (NOte 28) (147,322) (78,396) 44,274 - (177,750)
Othernon-currentliabilities
(Note 30) 2,550,753 (537,497) - (1,099,665) 913,591
Leaseliabilities (Note 32) 7,360,403 (1,084,254) 2,922,175 (5,011,148) 4,187,176
Notes:
(1) The financing activitiesin the statement of cash flows mainlyinclude the cash flows from loans and
borrowings and other non-currentliabilities.
(i) The non-cash changes pertainto the amortisation of deferred financing costs.

(iii) Otherchanges indude exchange adjustments and reclassification.
46. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

In December 2021, the assets and liabilities pertaining to Indosat Ooredoo (10), a subsidiary of the Group,
were classified as held for sale following an assessment undertaken by the Group. This assessment was
undertaken following the announcement of the proposed merger of the operations of IO and Hutchison
Indonesiaandthe subsequent signing of the merger agreement with Hutchison.

Based on the assessment of key milestones associated with the proposed merger, the Group determined that
as at 31st December 2021, the IO operation meetsthe requirements of IFRS 5tobe treated as “Held for sale”
since thesaleis highly probable within the next 12 months.

Inthe lightofthe above, Ooredoo’sinvestmentin IO hasbeen classified as “Held for sale” in Oored oo Group
consolidated financial statements forthe yearended 31st December 2021. By virtue of the fact that IO was a
major line of business, and it will continue tobe a major line of business after the merger, it does not meet
the definition of a discontinued operation.

Accordingly the related assets held for sale as at 31st December 2021 are measured at the lower of carrying
amountorfairvalue less cost to sell and shown as a separate linein the consolidated statement of financial
positionwithout changingthe comparative numbers.
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46.  ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

The following assetsandliabilitieswere reclassified asheld forsale asat 31 December 2021:

2021
QR.’000
Assetsclassified as held forsale
Property, plantand equipment 8,560,998
Intangible assets and goodwill 5,477,053
Right-of-use assets 3,051,059
Trade and otherreceivables 1,403,152
Bankbalancesand cash 968,087
Otherassets 1,433,554
Total Assets 20,893,903
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held forsale
Loans andborrowings 4,343,615
Leaseliabilities 4,336,974
Othernon - currentliabilities 974,244
Trade and other payables 4,127,166
Otherliabilities 1,141,313
Total Liabilities 14,923,312

The cumulative expense recognized in the statement of other comprehensive income as at 31 Dec 2021
relating to the above subsidiary classified as held for sale amounted to QR.2,559,751 thousands.

47. IMPACT OF COVID-19

Due to continued uncertainties caused by COVID-19, the Group has considered whether any adjustments and
changes in judgments, estimates and risk management are required to be considered and reported in the
consolidated financial information. The Group’sbusiness operations remain largely unaffected by the current
situation.

The Group has performed a qualitative assessment for its investment in CGUs, considering the minimal
impact of COVID-19 on entities operating in telecommunication sector, and compared the actual results for
the year ended 31 December 2021 against the budget and industry benchmarks which confirmed that the
impairment assessment as at 31 December 2020 remains unchanged.

The Group has updated the inputs and assumptions used for the determination of expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) as at 31 December 2021. ECLs are estimated based on the relevant forward-looking macroeconomic
factors, significant increase in credit risk, and assessing the indicators of impairment for the exposures in
potentially affected sectors.

The Group will continue to closely monitor the impact of COVID-19 asthe situation progresses tomanage the
potentialbusiness disruption COVID-19 outbreakmayhave on itsoperationsand financial performance.
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48. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

During the year, the Group performed an exercise to determine if the presentation of the consolidated
financial statementsis in accordance with IAS 1 “Presentation of financial statements”. This exercise resulted
in reclassification of certainline itemsin the consolidated financial statements. The comparative figures have
beenreclassified in order to conform with the presentation for the current period. Such reclassifications have
beenmadebythe Grouptoimprove the quality of information presented and did nothave any impact on the
previouslyreported equity and profits.

For the year ended 31 December

Consolidated
statement of profitor
loss for the year
ended 31 December
2020 Previous Reclassification Current Notes
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

Operating expenses 806 806 Operating expenses and selling,

Iil' g Xpal d (10,806,132) 10,606,132 " general and administrative
Selling, general an (5,966,048) 5, 966,048 - expenses have been split out
Network, interconnect further into the finandal
and otheroperating statement line items alongside;

and to separately present

expenses -

P . (13,194,381) (13,194,381) impairment on financial assets
Employeesalaries and and non-financial assets on the
associated cost - (3,258,375) (3,258,375) face of the statement of profit or
Impairment provision loss to comply with presenting the
(reversal) on financial income statement appropriately
assets and other assets (448,535) 448,535 . bynature
Impairmentlosseson )
goodwill and other non-

financial assets _ (407,184) (407,184)
Impairmentlosseson
financial assets - (360,775) (360.775)
Otherincome —net 470,615 (470,615)
Otherincome - 458,026 458,026
Other (losses)/ gains- Reclassified to present other
net income/expenses; and finance
- 12,589 12,580 income and costs on a gross basis,
as opposed to net to comply with
Net finance costs (1,895,576) 1,895,576 - IAS 1
Finance costs - (2,149,685) (2,149,685)
Financeincome - 254,109 254,109
Total (18,645,676) - (18,645,676)
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48. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December

Consolidated statement of
financial positions at 31

December 2020 Previous Reclassification Current Notes
QR.’000 QR.’000 QR.’000

Trade and other payables 15,613,600 (280,018) 15,333,582 Reclassified the accrued interest
payable and profit payable on
Islamic financing obligations
from the trade and other
payables line item to the loans
and borrowings line item to
comply with the requirements of

Loans andborrowings- current 5,189,283 280,018 5,469,301 IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”
Reclassified contract costs from

Contract costsand assets 556,039 (556,039) - the “Contract assets and costs”

Contract costs —non-current - 151,431 151,431 lineitem to”the “Trade and other

Contract costs —current - 196,958 196,958 receivables” lineitem and “Other
non-current assets” line item in

. order to comply with the

Trade and other receivables 7,612,862 170,251 7,783,113 requirements of IAS1
“Presentation  of financial
statements” and IFRS 15
“Revenue from contracts with

Othernon-currentassets 740,343 37,399 777,742 Customers”

The effects of the reclassifications in the tables above have accordingly been mirrored as appropriate in the
comparative period’s consolidated statement of cash flows with no impact on net cash generated from
operatingactivities, net cash usedin investingactivities or net cash used in financing activities.

49. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 4 January 2022, one of the subsidiaries of the Group namely Indosat Ooredoo (I0) completed a statutory
mergerwith PT Hutchison 3 Indonesia (“H3I”), the Indonesian subsidiary of CK Hutchison Holdings Limited
(«CKH ”)'

The merger was approved by the shareholders on 28 December 2021. However, the remaining ministry
approvals pending as of the balance sheet date to finalize the merger deal (Minister of Law and Human Rights
and Ministry of Communication and Informatics) were only received on 4 January 2022. Accordingly, the
merger was completed as of that date, the Group lost control over IO in which the Group had 65%
shareholding, when the newboard of directors came into effect.

The merged company willbejointly controlled by the two parties of the merger deal, whereby the Group will
have 32.8% in the merged entityand will be equity accounted by the Group from the 4th January 2022.

The financial effects of this transaction have not been recognised at 31st December 2021, other than those
disclosedin note 46, which details the assetsand liabilities of IO classified as assetsheld forsale.

At the timethe consolidated financial statements were authorised forissue, the Group had notyet completed
the accounting forthe merger. As such the financial effect of the transaction cannotbe disclosed accurately.
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